



## THE BROOKINGS-CUNY PROJECT ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT

# Selected Bibliography

# on the Global Crisis of Internal Displacement

December 2001

# Selected Bibliography

# on the Global Crisis of Internal Displacement

by Gimena Sánchez-Garzoli

December 2001

# ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The idea for this bibliography on the global crisis of internal displacement arose in preparation for a course on internal displacement designed by Francis Deng at the City University Graduate Center of New York.

Although the study of internal displacement is a relatively new one, substantial materials have emerged which are important to bring together and catalog. The attached compilation makes selections from materials available in English with several noteworthy publications in Spanish included as well. It is divided into both thematic and geographic categories. It is intended to prove useful to both scholars and practitioners interested in gaining a better understanding of internal displacement and the national, regional and international strategies being developed to address the needs of those displaced.

We are most grateful to Gimena Sánchez-Garzoli, Research Analyst at the Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, for preparing this bibliography. The author would be pleased to receive from readers any additional materials that they believe should be included since a future edition of this bibliography will be prepared.

The author wishes to thank Roberta Cohen for her substantive editorial contribution and guidance. Thanks too go to Erin Mooney and Simon Bagshaw for their comments and additions. Assistance was also provided by Hilary Talley, Galit Wolfensohn, Marianne Makar, Shigehero Suzuki, Philip Orchard and Merja Jutila of the Brookings-CUNY Project. The author is grateful to the various non-governmental and international organizations that assisted this project as well.

**Co-Directors** 

Roberta Cohen

Francis M. Deng

THE BROOKINGS INSTITUTION-CUNY PROJECT ON INTERNAL DISPLACEMENT 1775 Massachusetts Ave., N.W. Washington, D.C. 20036-2188 and 365 Fifth Avenue, Suite 5203, New York, N.Y. 10016 TELEPHONE: 202/797-6145 FAX: 202/797-6003 EMAIL: gsanchez@brook.edu

# **Table of Contents**

I.	Basic Texts and Sources of Information	_1
II.	Web Resources	_1
III.	Early Writings on Internal Displacement	2
IV.	General Overview of Displacement, in particular Displacement Caused by Conflict and Human Rights Violations	
	Displacement Caused by Development Projects	7
V.	Legal Framework	8
	The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement	8
	Origins of the Guiding Principles	
	Commentary on the Guiding Principles	9
	Practical Application of the Guiding Principles	_10
	General Legal Issues	
VI.	Institutional Framework	13
	International Organizations	
	Regional Organizations	17
	Nongovernmental Organizations	
	National Institutions	
	Donor Response	
VII.	Vulnerable Groups	20
	Children and Adolescents	0 20
	Women	
	The Elderly	
VIII.	Protection Strategies	_25
IX.	Return, Resettlement, and Reintegration	
X.	Development Strategies	
<b>.</b>		
XI.	Specific Regions and Countries	29
	Africa	29
	Americas	43
	Asia	<u></u> 50
	Middle East	
	Europe	62

## I. Basic Texts and Sources of Information

*Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993.

*Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998.

*The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998.

Reports of the Representative of the U.N. Secretary General on Internally Displaced Persons, Francis M. Deng, to the United Nations Commission on Human Rights, 1993 to the present and United Nations General Assembly 1994- present. Available at: www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm

*Internally Displaced People: A Global Survey*, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, Earthscan Publications, London, 1998.

*Rights Have No Borders: Worldwide Internal Displacement*, edited by Wendy Davies, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, 1998.

*Exodus within Borders: An Introduction to the Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by David A. Korn, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1999.

*Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001.

World Refugee Survey (annual report), U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C.

Forced Migration Review, Oxford, United Kingdom, January 1998 - ongoing.

The State of the World's Refugees, UNHCR, 1997, pp. 99-140.

# II. Web Resources

Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Project

www.idpproject.org

[Includes country profiles, weekly news on internal displacement and training modules on internal displacement]

Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/idp.htm United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Assistance (OCHA) Reliefweb www.reliefweb.int

Representative of the United Nations Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons webpage- United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights website <a href="https://www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm">www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm</a>

United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) www.unhcr.ch

Refugees International <u>www.refintl.org</u>

U.S. Committee for Refugees (USCR) <u>www.refugees.org</u>

Forced Migration Review www.fmreview.org

# **III.** Early Writings on Internal Displacement

Refugees: Dynamics of Displacement, A Report of the Independent Commission on International Humanitarian Issues, Zed Books, London, 1986, pp. 120-122.

Background Paper: Observations From Other Countries About Assistance for Displaced Persons, by Frederick C. Cuny, Intertect, 1988.

"Internal Refugees - The Hidden Half," by Lance Clark in *World Refugee Survey 1988*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 1989, pp. 18-24.

"U.N. Human Rights Bodies Should Deal With The Internally Displaced," by Roberta Cohen, Refugee Policy Group, February 7, 1990.

Human Rights at the UN: Internally Displaced People Need Human Rights Protection, by Roberta Cohen, *IN BRIEF*, International League for Human Rights, no. 33, October 1990.

Human Rights Protection for Internally Displaced Persons, by Roberta Cohen, Refugee Policy Group, June 1991.

Human Rights Protection For Internally Displaced Persons: An International Conference, June 24-25, 1991, Refugee Policy Group, 1991.

"Filling a Critical Gap in the Refugee Protection Regime: The Internally Displaced," by Charles B. Keely, *World Refugee Survey*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 1991, pp. 22-27.

Analytical Report of the Representative of the UN Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons, UN Commission on Human Rights, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1992/23, February 14, 1992.

Human Rights and Humanitarian Emergencies: New Roles for U.N. Human Rights Bodies, by Roberta Cohen, Refugee Policy Group, September 1992.

*The Disposable People? The Plight of Refugees*, by Judith A. Mayotte, Orbis Books, New York, 1992.

"Towards Practical Early Warning Capabilities Concerning Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons," by the York University Centre for Refugee Studies, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 4, no. 1 (January 1992), pp. 84-89.

"Dealing with the Problem of Internally Displaced Persons," by C.E. Lewis, *Georgetown Immigration Law Journal*, vol. 6, no. 4 (December 1992), pp. 639-720.

Norwegian Government Roundtable Discussion on United Nations Human Rights Protection for Internally Displaced Persons (5-6 February 1993, Nyon, Switzerland), by Norwegian Refugee Council/Refugee Policy Group, 1993.

*Comprehensive Study on the Human Rights Issues Related to Internally Displaced Persons*, by Francis M. Deng, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1993/35, January 21, 1993.

*Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993.

# IV. General Overview of Displacement, in Particular Displacement Caused by Conflict and Human Rights Violations

(See also Basic Texts - Part I)

"Internally Displaced Persons," by Francis M. Deng, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 6, no. 2 (1994).

"International Protection for Internally Displaced Persons," by Roberta Cohen in *Human Rights: An Agenda for the Next Century*, edited by Louis Henkin and John Lawrence Hargrove, The American Society of International Law, 1994.

Internally Displaced Persons: An Interim Report to the United Nations Secretary-General on *Protection and Assistance*, by Francis M. Deng, Refugee Policy Group and UN Department of Humanitarian Affairs, 1994.

*The Human Rights of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons*, by the International Council of Voluntary Agencies (ICVA), Humanitarian Affairs Series, no. 6, Geneva, October 1994.

Internal Displacement in Context: Themes From Country Missions, by Francis M. Deng, Refugee Policy Group, 1995.

"Dealing with the Displaced: A Challenge to the International Community," by Francis M. Deng, *Global Governance*, vol. 1, no. 1 (1995).

"International Intervention to Combat the Explosion of Refugees and Internally Displaced *Georgetown Immigration Law Journal*, vol. 9, no. 3 (1995).

"The Interaction Between Human Rights, Democracy and Governance and the Displacements of *International Journal of Refugee Law*, special issue (1995).

"Frontiers of Sovereignty: A Framework of Protection, Assistance and Development for the Internally Displaced," by Francis M. Deng, *Leiden Journal of International Law*, vol. 8 (1995).

*Internally Displaced Persons-Report of the Symposium: Geneva, 23-25 October 1995*, edited by Jean-Philippe Lavoyer, International Committee of the Red Cross, Geneva, 1996.

"Curative Prevention: Breaking the Cycle of Displacement," by Francis M. Deng in *Preventive Diplomacy: Stopping Wars Before They Start*, edited by Kevin M. Cahill MD, Routledge and the Center for International Health and Cooperation, 1996.

Focus: The Internally Displaced, Refugees, UNHCR, Issue 103 (1996).

"Protecting the Internally Displaced," by Roberta Cohen, *World Refugee Survey 1996*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 1997, pp. 20-27.

"Internal Conflict and Displacement," *The State of the World's Refugees: A Humanitarian Agenda*, by UNHCR, Oxford University Press, 1997, pp. 99-140.

*Expert Seminar on the Practice of Forced Evictions (Geneva, 11-13 June 1997)*, United Nations Economic and Social Council, Report of the Secretary-General, E/CN.4/Sub.2/1997/7, July 2, 1997.

"Recent Trends in Protection and Assistance for Internally Displaced People," by Roberta Cohen in *Internally Displaced People: A Global Survey*, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, Earthscan Publications, London, 1998, pp. 3-9.

"Forced Migration Within National Borders: the IDP Agenda," by Jon Bennett, *Forced Migration Review*, 1 (January-April 1998), pp. 4-6.

"Exodus within Borders," by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, *Foreign Affairs*, vol. 77, no. 4 (July/August 1998), pp. 12-16.

"Tensions Between the Refugee Concept and the IDP Debate," by Michael Barutciski, *Forced Migration Review*, 3 (December 1998), pp. 11-14.

#### Responses to Barutciski's article:

"How Tense is the Tension Between the Refugee Concept and the IDP Debate?," by Bonaventure Rutinwa, *Forced Migration Review*, 4 (April 1999), pp. 29-31.

"What May Be Borrowed; What is New?," by Michael Kingsley-Nyinah, *Forced Migration Review*, 4 (April 1999), pp. 32-33.

"Rights and Borders," by Jon Bennett, Forced Migration Review, 4 (April 1999), p. 33.

"Protection and Assistance to IDPs," by Marc Vincent, *Forced Migration Review*, 4 (April 1999), p. 34.

*Barutciski's Reply:* "Questioning the Tensions Between the 'Refugee' and 'IDP' Concepts: A Rebuttal," by Michael Barutciski, *Forced Migration Review*, 4 (April 1999), p. 35.

"Down the Rabbit Hole: The Strange Logic of Internal Flight Alternative," by Bill Frelick in *World Refugee Survey 1999*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 1999, pp. 22-29.

IDPs: The Hot Issue for a New Millennium, Refugees, by UNHCR, Issue 117 (1999).

"Refugee at Home: The World of the Internally Displaced," by Roberta Cohen, *UN Chronicle*, Fall (1999). Available at: www.brook.edu/views/articles/cohenr/1999fallunc.htm

Forced Evictions and Human Rights: A Manual For Action, by Scott Leckie, COHRE, Sources 3, May 1999.

*Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne F. Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 2000, in particular:

"Land and Resource Access Rights and Forced Displacements of People: Can Democracy in the Countryside Help?," by David H.M. Cumming in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, pp. 147-158.

"Further Promotion and Encouragement of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, Including the Programme and Methods of Work of the Commission: Human Rights, Mass Exoduses and Displaced Persons," by Francis M. Deng in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, pp. 229-335.

"The Forgotten Ones: A Survey of Recent Literature on Displaced Persons," by Roberta Cohen, *Harvard International Review*, (Winter/Spring 2000).

"Unfinished Business: the IDP Land Question," by Cecilia Bailliet, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000), pp. 16-19.

Special Issue: Internal Displacement, *Refugee Reports*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, vol. 21, no. 6 (July 2000).

"IDPs: Rights and Status," by Marc Vincent, *Forced Migration Review*, 8 (August 2000), pp. 29-30.

*Rapid Assessment Procedures (RAP): Addressing the Needs of Refugees & Internally Displaced Persons Through Participatory Learning and Action*, by William M. Weiss, Paul Bolton and Anita V. Shankar, Center for Refugee and Disaster Studies, the Johns Hopkins University School of Public Health, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, September 2000.

"The Global Challenge of Internal Displacement," by Francis M. Deng, *Journal of Law & Policy*, vol. 5, no. 141 (2001), pp. 141-155.

"Refuge for the Selected Few," by Mike Toole, *The Lancet*, vol. 357, no. 9266 (May 5, 2001), pp. 1430-1431.

"No Less Vulnerable: the Internally Displaced in Humanitarian Emergencies," by Peter Salama, Paul Spiegel and Richard Brennan, *The Lancet*, vol. 357, no. 9266 (May 5, 2001), pp. 1430-1431.

*Internally Displaced Persons Lack Effective Protection*, Report of the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO), August 2001.

*Forced Migration and Mortality*, edited by Holly E. Reed and Charles B. Keely, National Research Council, National Academy Press, Washington, D.C., 2001.

## **Displacement Caused by Development Projects**

"Internal Refugee Flows and Development-Induced Population Displacement," by Michael M. Cernea, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 3, no. 4 (1990), pp. 320-39.

*Guidelines for Aid Agencies on Involuntary Displacement and Resettlement in Development Projects*, OECD Publication, no. 3, Paris, 1992.

"Development Refugees and Distributive Justice: Indigenous Peoples, Land, and the Developmentalist State," by Peter Penz, *Public Affairs Quarterly*, 6 no. 1 (1992), pp. 105-131.

Resettlement and Development: The Bankwide Review of Projects Involving Involuntary Resettlement, 1986-1993, by the World Bank Environment Department, World Bank, Washington, D.C., 1994.

Social Integration and Population Displacement: The Contribution of Social Science, by Michael M. Cernea, World Bank Reprint Series no. 477, originally published in *International Social Science Journal*, vol. 143, no. 1, 1995.

"Understanding and Preventing Impoverishment from Displacement," by Michael M. Cernea, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 8, no. 3 (1995).

*Public Policy Responses to Development-Induced Population Displacements*, by Michael M. Cernea, World Bank Reprint Series no. 479, originally published in *Economic and Political Weekly*, 31 (24), 1996, pp. 1515-1523.

Understanding Impoverishment: the Consequences of Development Induced Displacement, edited by Christopher McDowell, Berghahn Books, Oxford, 1996.

Bridging the Research Divide: Studying Refugees and Development Oustees, by Michael M. Cernea, World Bank Reprint Series no. 481, originally published in *In Search for Cool Ground: War, Flight & Homecoming in Northeast Africa*, by the UN Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD), 1996.

Development-Induced Displacement, *Refuge*, by the Centre for Refugee Studies, York University, Canada, vol. 16, no. 3, August 1997.

*The Economics of Involuntary Resettlement: Questions and Challenges*, edited by Michael Cernea, World Bank, Washington, D.C., 1999.

Addressing Policy Constraints and Improving Outcomes in Development-Induced Resettlement *Projects*, by Alan Rew, Eleanor Fisher and Balaji Pandey, Refugees Studies Center, Oxford, 2000.

Displacement, Resettlement, Rehabilitation, Reparation and Development, WCD Thematic Review I.3 Prepared as an Input to the World Commission on Dams, by L.J. Bartholome, C. de Wet, H. Mander, and V.K. Nagraj, Cape Town, 2000. Available at <u>www.dams.org</u>

*Risks, Safeguards and Reconstruction: A Model for Population Displacement and Resettlement,* edited by M. Cernea and C. McDowell, World Bank, Washington, D.C., 2000.

*Resettlement: the World Bank's Assault on the Poor*, by Dana Clark, Center for International Environmental Law (CIEL), BRIEF, May 2000. Available at <u>www.ciel.org</u>

# V. Legal Framework

## The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement

*The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement*, United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Addendum to the Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis M. Deng, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/53/Add. 2, February 11, 1998.

The Guiding Principles have been translated into the following languages: Albanian, Arabic, Armenian, Azerbaijani, Bahasa Indonesia, Burmese, Chinese, Dari, English, French, Georgian, Macedonian, Pashtu, Portuguese, Russian, Serbo-Croatian, Sgaw Karen, Sinhala, Tagalog, Tamil and Turkish. Forthcoming: Abkhaz and Chin. Available at: www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/principles\_lang.htm or by emailing Simon Bagshaw at sbagshaw.hchr@unog.ch

## **Origins of the Guiding Principles**

Internally Displaced Persons and International Law, A Legal Analysis Based on the Needs of Internally Displaced Persons, by the American Society of International Law and the International Human Rights Law Group, prepared for Dr. Francis M. Deng, Representative of the U.N. Secretary General on Internally Displaced Persons, October 1995.

*Internally Displaced Persons. Compilation and Analysis of Legal Norms*, Report of the Representative of the U.N. Secretary General on Internally Displaced Persons, Francis M. Deng, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1996/52/Add.2, December 5, 1995.

Internally Displaced Persons. Compilation and Analysis of Legal Norms, Part II: Protection against Arbitrary Displacement, Report of the Representative of the U.N. Secretary General on Internally Displaced Persons, Francis M. Deng, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/53/Add.1, February 1, 1998.

"The Right Not to Be Internally Displaced," by Maria Stavropoulou, *American University Journal of International Law and Policy*, vol. 9, no. 3 (1996).

"Legal Framework," by Robert K. Goldman and Walter Kälin in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, 1998, pp. 73-125.

Reports of the Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons, United Nations Commission on Human Rights 1993-present. [January 21, 1993: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1993/35; January 25, 1994: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1994/44; February 2, 1995: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1995/50; February 22, 1996: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1996/52; February 4, 1997: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1997/43; February 11, 1998: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/53; January 25, 1999: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/53; January 26, 2000: UN Doc. E/CN.4/2000/83; January 17, 2001: UN Doc. E/CN.4/2001/5] The reports are available at: <a href="https://www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm">www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm</a>

### **Commentary on the Guiding Principles**

*Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement: Annotations*, by Walter Kälin, the American Society of International Law and the Brookings Institution Project on Internal Displacement, Washington, D.C., 2000.

"Introduction to the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement," by Walter Kälin, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 10, no. 3 (1998), pp. 557-62.

"Codification of International Rules on Internally Displaced Persons," by Robert K. Goldman, *International Review of the Red Cross*, no. 324 (1998), pp. 463-66.

"Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement: A Few Comments on the Contribution of International Humanitarian Law," by Jean-Philippe Lavoyer, *International Review of the Red Cross*, 324 (1998), pp. 467-80.

"Internally Displaced Persons at the Fifty-Fourth Session of the United Nations Commission on Human Rights, 16 March-24 April 1998," by Simon Bagshaw, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 10, no. 3 (1998), pp. 548-556.

"Developing the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement - The Role of a Global Public Policy Network," by Simon Bagshaw, Case Study for the UN Vision Project on Global Public Policy Networks, December 1999. Available at: www.globalpublicpolicy.net/search.htm

"The Development of International Standards to Protect Internally Displaced Persons," by Roberta Cohen in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer Law International, The Hague, 2000, pp. 76-89.

"Protection Principles for Internally Displaced Persons," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Migration*, vol. 38 (2000), pp. 81-87.

Report of the Vienna Colloquy on the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, Vienna, Austria, September 2000, by the Brookings Project on Internal Displacement. Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/conferences/vienna200009/summary.htm

## **Practical Application of the Guiding Principles**

*The Handbook for Applying the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement*, by Susan Forbes Martin, The Brookings Institution Project on Internal Displacement and United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA), 2000.

Norwegian Refugee Council Training Modules on the Guiding Principles available at www.idpproject.org.

Training Module One: A Definition of Internally Displaced Persons

Training Module Two: Legal Origins and International Obligations

Training Module Three: Protection from Displacement and During Displacement

Training Module Four: Return Resettlement and Reintegration

Training Module Five: "Recipients" as Resources: A Community-based Approach to Programme Response for Internally Displaced Persons

International Legal Standards Applicable to the Protection of Internally Displaced Persons: A Reference Manual for UNHCR Staff, by UNHCR, 1996.

"The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement: A New Instrument for International Organisations and NGOs," by Roberta Cohen, *Forced Migration Review*, 2 (August 1998), pp. 31-33.

*The Needs of Internally Displaced Women and Children: Guiding Principles and Considerations*, by James Kunder and Viktor Nylund, UNICEF, Office of Emergency Programmes, September 1998.

"A New Tool for NGOs: Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement," by Roberta Cohen, *The Mustard Seed*, Jesuit Refugee Service/USA (Fall 1998), pp. 9-11.

*Manual on Field Practice in Internal Displacement*, Inter-Agency Standing Committee Policy Paper Series No. 1, UN Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA), 1999.

"A New Tool to Protect Internally Displaced Persons: The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement," by Roberta Cohen, *Human Rights Tribune* (January 1999).

"A New Tool for NGOs: Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement," by Roberta Cohen, *Monday Developments* (January 29, 2001).

Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement: A Toolkit for Dissemination, Advocacy and Analysis, What You Can Do, by Consortium of Humanitarian Agencies (CHA), Sri Lanka, 2001 (forthcoming in Sinhala and Tamil).

"The Guiding Principles and the Response Strategies of IDPs," by Roberta Cohen, 2001. Available at: www.brookings.edu/fp/projects/idp/idp.htm

### **General Legal Issues**

"Draft Model Declaration on Internal Strife," by Theodor Meron, *International Review of the Red Cross*, January-February 1988.

The Human Rights of Refugees and Displaced Persons: Protections Afforded Refugees, Asylum Seekers and Displaced Persons Under International Human Rights, Humanitarian and Refugee Law, by the Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, May 1991.

"The Human Rights of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons," by the International Council of Voluntary Agencies, *Humanitarian Affairs Series*, ICVA, Geneva, no. 6 (1994).

"The Legal Basis of International Jurisdiction to Act with Regard to the Internally Displaced," by Richard Plender, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 6, issue 3 (1995).

"Protecting the Internally Displaced Under International Humanitarian Law," by Alain Balmanno, *Human Rights Brief*, vol. 2, no. 2, Winter 1995.

"State Responsibility for the Prevention and Resolution of Forced Population Displacements in International Law," by Jon Bennett, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, special issue (1996).

"Comments On: The Legal Basis of International Jurisdiction to Act With Regard to the Internally Displaced," by Ved P. Nanda in *The Problem of Refugees in the Light of Contemporary International Law Issues*, edited by Vera Gowlland-Debbas, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 1996, pp. 135-149.

"Internally Displaced Persons and Refugees: Toward a Legal Synthesis?," by Luke T. Lee, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 9, no. 1 (1996).

"Population Exchanges: International Law and State Practice- Part 2," by C. Meindersma, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 9, issue 4 (October 1997), pp. 613-653.

"Exiled at Home: The International Regime of Internal Displacement," by S. Sen, *Indian Journal of International Law*, vol. 38, no. 2 (1998), pp. 182-207.

"The Law of Internal Crisis and Conflict: An Outline Prospectus for Merger of International Human Rights Law, the Law of Armed Conflict, Refugee Law, and the Law on Humanitarian Intervention," by T. Hadden and C. Harvey, *International Review of the Red Cross*, vol. 18, no. 833 (1999), pp. 119-133.

A Humanitarian Practitioner's Guide to International Human Rights Law, by William G. O'Neill, Occasional Paper #34, The Thomas J. Watson Jr. Institute for International Studies, Brown University, 1999. (See section four on International Law on Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons.)

"Human Rights and Forced Displacement: Converging Standards," by Joan Fitzpatrick in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne F. Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 2000, pp. 3-25, in particular:

"Forced Displacement: The Relevance of International Humanitarian Law," by Jean-Philippe Lavoyer in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, pp. 50-65.

"Forced Displacement and the Covenant on Civil and Political Rights," by Martin Scheinin in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, pp. 66-75.

"The Struggle for Protection of the Rights of Refugees and IDPs in Africa: Making the Existing Legal Regime Work," by Zachary A. Lomo, *Berkeley Journal of International Law*, vol. 18, no. 2 (2000), pp. 268-284.

"Property Restitution and the Development of a Normative Framework for the Internally *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 3 (2000), pp. 209-223.

"The London Declaration of International Law Principles on Internally Displaced Persons," by the International Law Association, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 12, issue 4 (October 2000), pp. 672-679.

"Refugees, Displaced Persons and International Humanitarian Law," by F. Bugnion, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 20, no. 2 (2001), pp. 16-25.

Housing and Property Restitution for Refugees and IDPs: An International Legal Comparative Study, by Scott Leckie, Transnational Publishers, New York, 2001.

Human Rights Protection for Refugees, Asylum-Seekers, and Internally Displaced Persons: A Guide to International Mechanisms and Procedures, edited by Joan Fitzpatrick, Transnational Publishers (forthcoming December 2001).

# VI. Institutional Framework

## **International Organizations**

"Institutional Arrangements," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 126-186.

Reports of the Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons, United Nations Commission on Human Rights 1993-present. [January 21, 1993: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1993/35; January 25, 1994: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1994/44; February 2, 1995: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1995/50; February 22, 1996: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1996/52; February 4, 1997: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1997/43; February 11, 1998: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/53; January 25, 1999: UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/53; January 26, 2000: UN Doc. E/CN.4/2000/83; January 17, 2001: UN Doc. E/CN.4/2001/5] The reports are available at: <a href="https://www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm">www.unhchr.ch/html/menu2/7/b/midp.htm</a>

Internally Displaced Persons: An Interim Report to the United Nations Secretary-General on *Protection and Assistance*, by Francis M. Deng, Refugee Policy Group and UN Department of Humanitarian Affairs, 1994.

*Institutional Arrangements for Internally Displaced Persons: The Ground Level Experience*, by Jan Borgen, A Report Commissioned by the United Nations Secretary-General's Representative on Internally Displaced Persons, Norwegian Refugee Council, 1995.

*Improving Institutional Arrangements for the Internally Displaced*, by Roberta Cohen and Jaques Cuenod, the Brookings Institution-Refugee Policy Group Project on Internal Displacement, October 1995.

"Internally Displaced Persons at the Fifty-Fourth Session of the United Nations Commission on Human Rights, 16 March-24 April 1998," by Simon Bagshaw, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 10, no. 3 (1998), pp. 548-556.

"Humanitarian Shell Games: Whither UN Reform?," by Thomas G. Weiss, *Security Dialogue*, vol. 29, no. 1, March 1998, pp. 9-23.

"Whither International Efforts for Internally Displaced Persons?," by Thomas G. Weiss, *Journal of Peace Research*, vol. 36, no. 3 (May 1999), pp. 363-373.

*Protection of Internally Displaced Persons*, by the UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), XXIInd Meeting, New York, December 6, 1999. (see Annex). Available at: <a href="https://www.idpproject.org">www.idpproject.org</a>

"United Nations Initiatives in Humanitarian Emergencies Causing Forced Displacements," by Gianni Magazzeni in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne F. Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 2000, pp. 236-244.

Statement by Ambassador Richard C. Holbrooke, United States Permanent Representative to the United Nations, Cardozo Law School, New York, March 28, 2000.

*Forced Migration and the Evolving Humanitarian Regime*, by Susan Forbes Martin, New Issues in Refugee Research, Working Paper No. 20, UNHCR, July 2000.

A Discussion Paper on Future Options for a Humanitarian Response to Internally Displaced Persons, by ICVA, January 2001. Available at www.idpproject.org

"Some NGO Views on an Institutional Response to Internally Displaced Persons," by ICVA and InterAction, March 2001. Available at: <u>www.icva.ch</u>

"International and National Responses to the Plight of IDPs," by Francis M. Deng and Dennis McNamara, *Forced Migration Review*, 10 (April 2001), pp. 24-27.

"Towards A More Effective Response to Internal Displacement," by Refugees International, *Refugees International Bulletin*, June 8, 2001.

#### INTERNATIONAL COMMITTEE OF THE RED CROSS (ICRC):

"Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons: International Humanitarian Law and the Role of the by Jean-Philippe Lavoyer, *International Review of the Red Cross*, 305 (1995).

"Internally Displaced Persons: the Mandate and the Role of the International Committee of the *International Review of the Red Cross*, vol. 82, no. 838 (2000), pp. 491-

500.

Internally Displaced Persons: The Mandate and Role of the International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC), by ICRC, February 2000.

Information Note on ICRC Activities Relating to Internal Displacement, by ICRC, July 2000.

"The ICRC's Policy on Refugees and Internally Displaced Civilians," by F.Krill, *International Review of the Red Cross*, vol. 83, no. 843 (2001), pp. 607-628.

#### INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATION FOR MIGRATION (IOM):

Internally Displaced Persons: IOM Policy and Programmes, by IOM, 1997.

Reports on IDP Country Situations (Armenia, Mozambique), see Part XI below.

# UNITED NATIONS OFFICE FOR THE COORDINATION OF HUMANITARIAN AFFAIRS (OCHA):

*United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA) Reliefweb:* <u>www.reliefweb.int</u> (see the forced displacement section of protection of civilians in armed conflict page).

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission Reports (on Afghanistan, Angola, Burundi, Colombia, Eritrea and Ethiopia), available at <u>www.idpproject.org</u> Also listed in Part XI below.

Supplementary Guidance to Humanitarian/Resident Co-ordinators on their Responsibilities in Relation to IDPs, by the UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), XXIIIrd Meeting, Rome, April 5, 2000.

### UNITED NATIONS DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME (UNDP):

UNDP and Internally Displaced Persons, by UNDP, September 1997.

*Failing the Internally Displaced: The UNDP Displaced Persons Program in Kenya*, by Human Rights Watch, 1997.

Reports on IDP country situations (Ethiopia), see Part XI below.

# UNITED NATIONS HIGH COMMISSIONER FOR REFUGEES (UNHCR):

*UNHCR's Role in Protecting and Assisting Internally Displaced Persons*, by UNHCR, Central Evaluation Section Discussion Paper, November 1993.

UNHCR's Operational Experience with Internally Displaced Persons, by UNHCR, Division of International Protection, 1994.

Protection Aspects of UNHCR Activities on Behalf of Internally Displaced Persons, by UNHCR, UN Doc. EC/1994/SCP/CRP.2, May 4, 1994.

*Official Report of People of Concern Workshop: Internally Displaced and War-Affected Populations: Conceptual, Legal and Operational Challenges, by UNHCR, 1996.* 

"Internal Conflict and Displacement," *The State of the World's Refugees: A Humanitarian Agenda*, by UNHCR, Oxford University Press, 1997, pp. 99-140.

"A Difficult Problem for UNHCR: The Dilemma of the Internally Displaced," by Steven Wolfson, *Refugees*, UNHCR, June 1997. Available from www.unhcr.ch

"UNHCR's Protection Mandate in Relation to Internally Displaced Persons," by Dennis McNamara in *Rights Have No Borders: Worldwide Internal Displacement*, edited by Wendy Davies, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, 1998, pp. 53-62.

"In-Country Protection: Out of Bounds for UNHCR?," by Erin D. Mooney in *Refugee Rights and Realities: Evolving International Concepts and Regimes*, edited by Frances Nicholson and Patrick Twomey, Cambridge University Press, 1999.

"Internally Displaced Persons: The Role of the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 6 March 2000," by UNHCR, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 271-280.

"Housing and Property Issues for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons In the Context of Return: Key Considerations for UNHCR Policy and Practice," by Scott Leckie, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 3 (August 2000), pp. 5-63.

"UNHCR and Internal Displacement: Stepping into a Legal and Political Minefield," by Guy S. Goodwin-Gill in *World Refugee Survey 2000*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 2001, pp. 26-31.

#### UNITED NATIONS CHILDREN'S FUND (UNICEF):

(see also Part VII below)

Internally Displaced Persons: UNICEF Emergency Handbook, by UNICEF, 1997.

Internally Displaced Children: The Role of UNICEF, by UNICEF, 1998.

*The Gender Dimensions of Internal Displacement: Concept Paper and Annotated Bibliography*, by Judy A. Benjamin and Khadija Fancy, Office of Emergency Programmes Working Paper Series, UNICEF, November 1998.

*Expert Meeting on Gender Dimensions of Internal Displacement*, New York, 14-15 June 1999, Office of Emergency Programmes, UNICEF, 1999 (contains case studies on Peru, Sri Lanka and Uganda).

"UNICEF's Experience Working on Both Sides of Conflict for the Protection of Internally Displaced Women and Children," by Bo Viktor Nylund, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 18, no. 1 (1999), pp. 116-125.

Humanitarian Principles Training: A Child Rights Protection Approach to Complex Emergencies. Available from <u>http://coe-dmha.org/unicef/unicef2fs.htm</u> (training materials that includes IDP children).

UNICEF Actions on Behalf of Children Affected by Armed Conflict—Selected Examples, Working Paper, by the Division of Evaluation, Policy and Planning, UNICEF (forthcoming 2002).

#### WORLD FOOD PROGRAMME (WFP):

Internally Displaced Persons: A WFP Position Paper, by WFP, Rome, June 1994.

*Situations of Displacement: Issues and Experiences,* WFP's IDP Review, Discussion Paper, by WFP, Rome, March 16, 2000.

Reports on IDP country situations (Afghanistan, Azerbaijan, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Rwanda, Sri Lanka and Uganda), see Part XI below.

#### WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO):

Internally Displaced Persons: Health Aspects, by WHO, Division of Emergency and Humanitarian Action, May 1994.

## **Regional Organizations**

"Regional Responses," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 213-238.

Conference on Security and Cooperation in Europe: Human Dimension Seminar on Migration, Including Refugees and Displaced Persons (Warsaw, 20-23 April 1993), by IOM and UNHCR, Geneva, April 1993.

"The Role of Regional and Sub-Regional Organizations in Situations of Conflict and *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 18, no. 1 (1999), pp. 97-101.

Compendium of OAU Instruments and Texts on Refugees, Returnees and Displaced Persons in Africa 1963-1999, by the Organization of African Unity and UNHCR, Addis Ababa, March 2000.

Final Report of the Supplementary Human Dimension Meeting, Migration and Internal Displacement, Vienna, September 2000, *by the Organization for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE), 2000. Available at: <u>www.osce.org</u>* 

*The Role of Regional Organizations in Responding to Internal Displacement and Applying the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement*, Statement before the Council of Europe Committee on Migration, Refugees and Demography, by Roberta Cohen, September 4, 2001. Available at: www.idpproject.org

"Innovative Institutional Solutions in the Americas," in *Internal Displacement in the Americas: Some Distinctive Features*, by Roberta Cohen and Gimena Sánchez-Garzoli, Occasional Paper, Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, May 2001, pp. 12-14 (on regional innovations).

"Addressing Internal Displacement in Asia: A Role for Regional Organizations," by Roberta Cohen (to be published by the University of Dhaka). Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/idp.htm

## **Nongovernmental Organizations**

"The Role of Nongovernmental Organizations," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 187-212.

Internally Displaced Persons: An NGO Perspective on Protection, by Jan Borgen, Norwegian Refugee Council, 1994.

*The Protection of Internally Displaced Persons by NRC: Platform, Concepts and Strategies*, by Jan Borgen, Norwegian Refugee Council, 1994.

"NGOs and the UN in Complex Emergencies: Conflict or Co-operation," by Andrew Natsios, *Third World Quarterly*, vol. 16 (September 1995), pp. 406-407.

"Nongovernmental Organizations and Internal Conflict," by Michael E. Brown in *The International Implications of Internal Conflicts*, edited by Thomas G. Weiss, MIT Press, Cambridge, Mass., 1996, pp. 435-460.

*The Role of Non-Governmental Organizations in the Protection of Civilians Under Threat: Practical Considerations*, by Diane Paul, Center for the Study of Societies in Crisis and the Jacob Blaustein Institute for the Advancement of Human Rights, New York, 1996. *Response Systems of NGOs to Assistance and Protection of Internally Displaced Persons*, by Curtis W. Lambrecht, Norwegian Refugee Council, 1996.

"Human Rights and Forced Displacement: CARE's Perspective on Solutions," by Andrew Jones in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne F. Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 2000, pp. 190-196.

## **National Institutions**

"National Responses to Internal Displacement," by Jennifer McLean, *Forced Migration Review*, 1 (January-April 1998), pp. 10-11.

"Indonesian Commission on Human Rights: The Role of National Commissions on Human Rights in Implementing Protection of Internally Displaced Persons," by Koesparmono Irsan, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 216-223.

"The Role of National Human Rights Institutions (NHRIS) Regarding Internal Displacement in Asia," by Mercedes V. Contreras-Danenberg, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 224-226.

"Internally Displaced Persons and the Human Rights Commission," by Mario Gomez, *CHA Newsletter*, Consortium for Humanitarian Agencies, Sri Lanka, July/August 2001, pp. 1-11.

## **Donor Response**

#### **United Nations**

The Consolidated Appeals and IDPs: The Degree to Which UN Consolidated Inter-Agency Appeals for the Year 2000 Support Internally Displaced Populations, prepared by James Kunder for Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Project on Internal Displacement and UNICEF, August 2000.

#### Europe

A Need for a More Focused Response: European Donor Policies Toward Internally Displaced Persons (IDPs), by Philip Rudge, Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, Norwegian Refugee Council and the U.S. Committee for Refugees (forthcoming 2002).

#### **United States**

*The U.S. Government and Internally Displaced Persons: Present, But Not Accounted For*, by James Kunder, Brookings Institution Project on Internal Displacement and the U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1999.

Humanitarian and Human Rights Emergencies: A New Approach for the U.S. Government, by Roberta Cohen and James Kunder, Brookings Institution Policy Brief no. 83, June 2001.

*Internally Displaced Persons Lack Effective Protection*, Report of the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO), August 2001.

# VII. Vulnerable Groups

## **Children and Adolescents**

"Displaced Children: Psychological Theory and Practice From the Field," by N. Boothby, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 5, no. 2, Oxford University Press, 1992, pp. 106-122.

*UN Study on the Impact of Armed Conflict on Children*, by Graca Machel, 1996. Available at: <u>www.unicef.org/graca/women.htm</u>

"Internally Displaced Children: Just Scratching the Surface," by James Kunder in *Internally Displaced People: A Global Survey*, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, Earthscan Publications, London, 1998, pp. 17-23.

Internally Displaced Children: The Role of UNICEF, by UNICEF, 1998.

*The Needs of Internally Displaced Women and Children: Guiding Principles and Considerations*, by James Kunder and Viktor Nylund, UNICEF, Office of Emergency Programmes, September 1998.

"Psychosocial Rehabilitation of IDP Children: Using Theatre, Art, Music and Sport," by Nazim Akhundov, *Forced Migration Review*, 6 (December 1999), pp. 20-21.

"The Role of Art in Psychosocial Care and Protection for Displaced Children," by Bo Viktor Nylund, Jean Claude Legrand and Peter Holtsberg, *Forced Migration Review*, 6 (December 1999), pp. 16-19.

*War Brought Us Here: Protecting Children Displaced Within Their Own Countries By Conflict*, by Andrew Mawson, Rebecca Dodd and John Hilary, Save the Children (UK), London, UK, 2000.

"Protecting the Rights of Displaced Children: Some Suggestions for Enhanced Monitoring and Reporting," by James Kunder and Bo Viktor Nylund in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne F. Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 2000, pp. 89-98.

Untapped Potential: Adolescents Affected by Armed Conflict, A Review of Programs and Policies, by Jane Lowicki, the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, January 2000.

"Making Young Displaced Men Visible," by Cathrine Brun, *Forced Migration Review*, 9 (December 2000), pp. 10-12.

#### Children and Adolescents: Country/Area Specific

Africa

*Our Forgotten Family. Liberians: The Plight of Refugees and the Displaced*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1991.

#### Americas

We Have a Voice and We Can Speak: Women and Children Refugees, Repatriates and Displaced in El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Mexico, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

*"This Is Not Our War: Children and Forced Displacement in Colombia,"* by the Consultancy for Human Rights and Displacement (CODHES), Bogotá, Colombia, March 2000.

"The Children of Low Intensity War-'God Protect Us, So That We Are Not Scared Anymore'," *SIPAZ Report*, vol. 5, no. 3 (August 2000).

*Living in the Mountains: How Displaced Children Managed to Survive During the Armed Conflict*, by UNICEF Guatemala (forthcoming 2002).

### Europe

Manual on Psycho-pedagogical Assistance to Internally Displaced and Refugee Children and their Parents, by UNICEF Croatia, the Ministry of Education, and University of Zagreb's Faculty of Special Training, 1994.

Armed Conflict in Chechnya: Its Impact on Children: Case Study for the United Nations Study on the Impact of Armed Conflict on Children, by Hrair Balian, Covcas Center for Law and Conflict Resolution, November 1995.

"Psycho-Social Examination of IDP Children and Women: Victims of Military Conflicts on the Territory of the Republic of Georgia," by Julia Karashvili, Survey Sponsored by Oxfam, Tbilisi, December 1995.

Looking Toward Home: Internally Displaced Adolescents in Azerbaijan, by UNHCR and the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1998.

*Internal Displacement in Kosovo: The Impact on Women and Children*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1998.

*Eyes Which Have Seen Too Much: Refugee Children in Azerbaijan*, by the National Assembly of the Youth Organizations of the Republic of Azerbaijan (NAYORA), 2000.

*Refugee and Internally Displaced Women and Children in Serbia and Montenegro*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, September 2001.

### Women

Issues in Refugee and Displaced Women and Children, Expert Group Meeting on Refugee and Displaced Women and Children, Vienna, 2-6 July 1990, by Susan Forbes Martin, UN Doc. EGM/RDW/1990/WP.1, June 25, 1990.

*Return and Reintegration: The Experience of Refugee and Displaced Women*, by Susan Forbes Martin, Refugee Policy Group, 1992.

*Refugee and Internally Displaced Women: A Development Perspective*, by Roberta Cohen, the Brookings Institution – Refugee Policy Group Project on Internal Displacement, 1995.

"Protecting Internally Displaced Women and Children," by Roberta Cohen in *Rights Have No Borders: Worldwide Internal Displacement*, edited by Wendy Davies, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, 1998. pp. 63-74.

*The Needs of Internally Displaced Women and Children: Guiding Principles and Considerations*, by James Kunder and Viktor Nylund, UNICEF, Office of Emergency Programmes, September 1998.

*The Gender Dimensions of Internal Displacement: Concept Paper and Annotated Bibliography*, by Judy A. Benjamin and Khadija Fancy, Office of Emergency Programmes Working Paper Series, UNICEF, November 1998.

*Expert Meeting on Gender Dimensions of Internal Displacement*, New York, 14-15 June 1999, Office of Emergency Programmes, UNICEF, 1999 (contains case studies on Peru, Sri Lanka and Uganda).

*Refugee and Internally Displaced Women Advocating for Accountability Through the Beijing Platform for Action, BEIJING PLUS 5*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, June 2000.

"Gender Dimensions of Displacement," by Srilakshmi Gururaja, *Forced Migration Review*, 9 (December 2000), pp. 13-16.

*Proceedings of Conference on Intrastate Conflict and Women*, Office of Women in Development, U.S. Agency of International Development (USAID), December 12 & 13, 2000.

#### Women: Country/Area Specific

Africa

Support for Women in Internally Displaced Situations, Report of a Joint Mission (to Africa) of UNDP/UNICEF/UNIFEM/WHO/DHA-18 October – 5 November 1993, by Mary B. Anderson, Gender in Development Programme, UNDP, 1993.

"The Camps for the Displaced Populations of Rwanda," by Janice Miller and Deidre Wulf in *Refugee Women and Reproductive Health Care: Reassessing Priorities*, Women's Commission For Refugee Women and Children, 1994, pp. 23-31.

"The Plight of the Larger Half: Human Rights, Gender Violence and the Legal Status of Refugees and Internally Displaced Women in Africa," by Joe Oloka-Onyango, *Denver Journal of International Law and Policy*, vol. 24, no. 2/3 (1996).

"Trapped on the Margins: Social Characteristic, Economic Conditions, and Reproductive Behavior of Internally Displaced Women in Urban Mozambique," by Victor Agadjanian, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 11, no. 3 (1998), pp. 284-303.

Sudan Between Peace and War: Internally Displaced Women in Khartoum and South and West Kordofan, by Amna E. Badri and Intisar I. Abdel Sadiq, UNIFEM Nairobi, 1998.

"Protection of Internally Displaced Women in Northern Uganda," by Rosalba Oywa in *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Internal Displacement in Africa, vol. 18, no. 1 (1999), pp. 83-87.

*Out of Sight, Out of Mind: Conflict and Displacement in Burundi*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, October 2000.

"The Problems of Displaced and Returnee Women Faced with Current Land Tenure Policies in Burundi," by Sabine Sabimbona in *Women's Land and Property Rights in Situations of Conflict and Reconstruction*, a Reader based on the February 1998 Inter-Regional Consultation in Kigali, Rwanda, edited by Alfred Buregaya, Marguerite Garling, Jill Craig and Barbara Harrell-Bond, UNIFEM, 2001, pp. 69-81.

#### Americas

*Women in Colombia: Breaking the Silence*, by Amnesty International, AMR 23/041/1995, 1995 (contains information on IDP women).

"Uprootedness, Gender and Internal Displacement," by Nora Segura-Escobar and Donny Meertens, *Beyond Law*, vol. 6, issue 17, January 1997, pp. 15-34 (contains information on Colombian IDP women).

"Urabá: Between Magic and Tragedy, The Destinies of the Women," by Elsa Duarte, *Investigaciones*, DIAL, Bogotá, no. 3. (July 2000), pp. 1-20.

*Consulta Con Mujeres Desplazadas Sobre Los Principios Rectores del Desplazamiento*, Bogotá, 16-18 de Mayo 2001, by UNHCR and OCHA, 2001.

We Have a Voice, and We Can Speak: Women and Children Refugees, Repatriates, and Displaced in El Salvador, Nicaragua and Mexico, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

#### Europe

*Balkan Trail of Tears Revisited: Living with the Nightmare*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1993.

"Psycho-Social Examination of IDP Children and Women: Victims of Military Conflicts on the Territory of the Republic of Georgia," by Julia Karashvili, Survey Sponsored by Oxfam, Tbilisi, December 1995.

*The Struggle for Peace and Recovery in Former Yugoslavia: Move Women from the Background to Foreground*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1996.

Women Displaced in the Southern Caucasus: An Examination of Humanitarian Assistance Needs in Azerbaijan, Armenia, Nagorno-Karabakh and Georgia, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, April 1998.

*Internal Displacement in Kosovo: The Impact on Women and Children*, by Julie Mertus, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, June 1998.

*Aftermath: Effects of Conflict on Internally Displaced Women in Georgia*, by Thomas Buck with Alica Morton, Susan Allen Nan, and Feride Zurikashvili, Working Paper no. 310, Center for Development Information and Evaluation, USAID, Washington, D.C., September 2000.

*Refugee and Internally Displaced Women and Children in Serbia and Montenegro*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, September 2001.

## The Elderly

*The Case of Older Persons*, by Flora MacDonald, presented to the American University Symposium on the Legal Protection of the Vulnerable: Internally Displaced Persons, Library of Congress, April 12, 2001. Copies available from the Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement.

# **VIII.** Protection Strategies

Sections on protection in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 162-166, 176-181, 195-207 and 254-289.

The International Protection of Refugees and Displaced Persons: A Global Problem of Growing Complexity, by Dr. Joachim Henkel, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1985.

Human Rights Protection For Internally Displaced Persons: An International Conference, June 24-25, 1991, by the Refugee Policy Group, 1991.

"The Protection of Displaced Persons in Non-International Armed Conflicts," by Denise Plattner, *International Review of the Red Cross*, 291 (1992).

Norwegian Government Roundtable Discussion on United Nations Human Rights Protection for Internally Displaced Persons (5-6 February 1993, Nyon, Switzerland), by Norwegian Refugee Council and the Refugee Policy Group, 1993.

International Protection for Internally Displaced Persons—Next Steps, by Roberta Cohen, *RPF Focus*, No. 2, January 1994.

"International Protection for Internally Displaced Persons," by Roberta Cohen in *Human Rights: An Agenda for the Next Century*, edited by Louis Henkin and John Lawrence Hargrove, Studies in Transnational Legal Policy, No. 26, American Society of International Law (ASIL), Washington, D.C., 1994. pp. 17-48.

Internally Displaced Persons: An NGO Perspective on Protection, by Jan Borgen, Norwegian Refugee Council, 1994.

"An Examination of Safety Zones for Internally Displaced Persons as a Contribution Toward Prevention and Solution of Refugee Problems," by Leonardo Franco in *International Legal Issues Arising Under the United Nations Decade of International Law*, edited by N. Al-Naumi and R. Meese, Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague, 1995.

"The International Protection of the Internally Displaced," by Francis M. Deng, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, special issue (1995), pp. 74-86.

"Presence, ergo Protection? UNPROFOR, UNHCR and the ICRC in Croatia and Bosnia and Hercegovina," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 7, no. 3 (1995).

"Safety Zones and International Protection: A Dark Grey Area," by Karin Langren, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 7, no. 3 (1995).

"New Standards for the Protection of Internally Displaced Persons: A Proposal for a Comprehensive Approach," by David Petrasek, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 14, nos. 1 and 2 (Spring/Summer 1995).

*The Protection Gap in the International Protection of Internally Displaced Persons: the Case of Rwanda*, by Stephanie T.E. Kleine-Ahlbrandt, Universite de Geneve, Institut Universitaire de Hautes Etudes Internationales, 1996.

"Protecting the Internally Displaced," by Roberta Cohen, *World Refugee Survey 1996*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 1997, pp. 20-27.

"Internal Displacement: Protecting the Dispossessed," by Jon Bennett, , The Winchester Group, (1997).

"Enhancing the Protection of Internally Displaced People," by Daniel Helle in *Rights Have No Borders: Worldwide Internal Displacement*, edited by Wendy Davies, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, 1998, pp. 31-52.

"Recent Trends in Protection and Assistance for Internally Displaced People," by Roberta Cohen in *Internally Displaced People: A Global Survey*, Global IDP Survey/Norwegian Refugee Council, Earthscan Publications, London, 1998, pp. 3-9.

"Protecting Displaced Persons Through Disarmament," by Jeremy Ginifer, *Survival*, vol. 40, no. 2, Summer 1998, pp. 161-176.

*Protecting Human Rights: The Challenge to Humanitarian Organizations*, by Mark Frohardt, Diane Paul and Larry Minear, Occasional Paper #35, Thomas J. Watson Institute for International Studies, Brown University, 1999.

"Aliens in their own Land: Protection and Durable Solutions for Internally Displaced Persons," by Bill Frelick, *World Refugee Survey 1998*, U.S. Committee for Refugees, Washington, D.C., 1999, pp. 30-39.

"The International Protection of Internally Displaced Persons," by N. Geissler, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 11, no. 3 (1999), pp. 451-478.

*Protection in Practice: Field-Level Strategies for Protecting Civilians from Deliberate Harm*, by Diane Paul, RRN Network Paper, 30, Overseas Development Institute, London, July 1999.

Partnerships in the Protection of Refugees and Other People at Risk: Emerging Issues and Work in Progress, Working Paper No. 13, by Larry Minear, Humanitarianism and War Project, Thomas J. Watson Jr. Institute for International Studies, Brown University, July 1999.

*Protection of Internally Displaced Persons*, by the UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC), XXIInd Meeting, New York, December 6, 1999. Available at: <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

"Protection of Internally Displaced Persons Affected by Armed Conflict: Concept and International Review of the Red Cross, vol. 83, no. 843

(2001), pp. 699-712

"Masses in Flight: People Under Assault in their Own Countries," by Roberta Cohen, *International Policy Perspectives*, no. 2001.1, Center for International Studies, University of Missouri-St. Louis, January 16, 2001.

*Internally Displaced Persons Lack Effective Protection*, Report of the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO), August 2001.

*Growing the Sheltering Tree: Protection Rights Through Humanitarian Action*, by the UN Inter-Agency Standing Committee (IASC) Reference Group on Human Rights and Humanitarian Action (forthcoming 2002).

## IX. Return, Resettlement, and Reintegration

Sections on return, resettlement and reintegration in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 285-304.

*Ending Exile: Promoting Successful Reintegration of African Refugees and Displaced People*, by Roger P. Winter, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1990.

Development of a Conceptual Framework for Repatriation and Reintegration of Refugees, Demobilized Soldiers and Other Displaced Persons (Report of the Workshop Held in Obersel, Germany 25-27 May 1992), by the German Agency for Technical Cooperation, Eschborn, Germany, 1992.

"The United Nations and the Homecoming of Displaced Populations," by T. Allen, *International Review of the Red Cross*, no. 301 (1994).

*Dealing with Refugees, Displaced Persons, and Returnee Programmes- Why? What? How?*, by the International Federation of the Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies (IFRC), Geneva, 1994.

*Who's Living In My House? Obstacles to the Safe Return of Refugees and Internally Displaced People*, by Amnesty International, Report no. EUR/ID, Amnesty International Publications, 1997.

*Healing Communities in Conflict: International Assistance in Complex Emergencies*, by Kimberley A. Maynard, Columbia University Press, 1999.

"Communities in Return to the Cacarica: The Contribution of the Mixed Verification Commission," by Marcela Salazar, *Investigaciones*, DIAL, Bogotá, no. 2. (November 1999), pp. 1-23. "Return, Resettlement and Reintegration: Application of the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement," by Rachael Reilly and Gary Risser, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000) pp. 170-190.

"Reintegration of Internally Displaced People (IDPs): The Need for Micro Credit," by Jamil Chowdhury, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000) pp. 201-215.

"Property Restitution and the Development of A Normative Framework for the Internally *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 3 (2000).

"Solutions: Human Rights Verification and Accountability," by Juan E. Mendez and Francisco Cox in *Human Rights and Forced Displacement*, edited by Anne F. Bayefsky and Joan Fitzpatrick, Kluwer International Law, The Hague, 2000, pp. 176-189.

Memorias: Encuentro Nacional de Experiencias de Retorno, by the GAD, Bogotá, April 2000.

Housing and Property Restitution for Refugees and IDPs: An International Legal Comparative Study, by Scott Leckie, Transnational Publishers, New York, 2001.

Housing and Property Restitution for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons: International, Regional and National Legal Resources, by Bret Thiele and Scott Leckie, COHRE, Sources 7, May 2001.

"Resettlement: A Valuable Tool for Protecting Refugee, Internally Displaced and Trafficked Women and Girls," by Alice Edwards, *Forced Migration Review* 11 (October 2001), pp. 31-34.

# X. Development Strategies

Sections on development in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 182-184, 289-304.

*Conflict-Induced Displacement Through a Development Lens*, by Steven Holtzman, Brookings Project on Internal Displacement, May 1997.

A Framework for World Bank Involvement in Post-Conflict Reconstruction, by the World Bank, April 25, 1997.

Rethinking 'Relief' and 'Development' in Transitions from Conflict, by Steven Holtzman, Brookings Project on Internal Displacement, January 1999.

Roundtable on the Gap Between Humanitarian Assistance and Long-Term Development, Washington, D.C., January 15, 1999, Brookings Institution, UNHCR and the World Bank, 1999.

### **Country/Area Specific**

"From Relief to Development: the Long-term Effects of 'Temporary' Accomodation on Refugee and Displaced Persons in the Republic of Croatia," by Sue Ellis and Sultan Barakat, *Disasters*, vol. 20, no. 2, June 1996, pp. 111-124.

"The Question of Displaced Persons and Process of Development in Latin America," by Augusto Ramirez-Ocampo, *In Defense of the Alien*, vol. XII (1990), pp. 44-49.

# **XI.** Specific Regions and Countries

Overall, see the Global IDP Database, the annual World Refugee Survey of the U.S. Committee for Refugees, and the "Global Overview," in Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, 1998, pp. 40-71.

## Africa

Africa section of "Global Overview," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 40-47.

*History and Human Rights: The Reasons for African Refugees and Displaced People*, by Roger P. Winter, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1989.

*Ending Exile: Promoting Successful Reintegration of African Refugees and Displaced People*, by Roger P. Winter, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1990.

*Internally Displaced Persons in Africa: Assistance Challenges and Opportunities*, by the Refugee Policy Group, October 1992.

"The Challenge in the African Experience," in *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 109-120.

"Addressing the Root Causes of Forced Population Displacements in Africa: A Theoretical International Journal of Refugee Law, special issue, 1995, pp. 21-36.

*OAU/UNHCR Regional Conference on Assistance to Refugees, Returnees and Displaced Persons in the Great Lakes Region: Bujumbura, Burundi, 15-17 February 1995, by UNHCR,* 1995.

*Protection of the African Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons*, by Richard Chidowore and Diana Cammack, Southern African Research and Document Centre, Zimbabwe, 1995.

"The African State as a Political Refugee: Institutional Collapse and Human Displacement," by Ali A. Mazrui, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, special issue, July 1995.

*In Search of Cool Ground – War, Flight and Homecoming in Northeast Africa*, edited by Tim Allen, published by James Currey Ltd. and Africa World Press, London, 1996.

*In Search of Safety: The Forcibly Displaced and Human Rights in Africa*, by Amnesty International, AFR: 01/05/97, June 1997.

"Africa's Internal Refugees," by Roberta Cohen, The Journal of Commerce (October 1998).

Assistance to Refugees, Returnees and Displaced Persons in Africa, Report of the Secretary-General, UN Doc A/53/328, September 2, 1998. (contains information on IDPs in Angola, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Sierra Leone, Somalia and the Sudan).

*Internal Displacement in Africa*, Report of a Workshop Held in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, cosponsored by the Brookings Institution, OAU and UNHCR, October 18-20, 1998.

Internal Displacement in Africa, Refugee Survey Quarterly, Special Issue, vol. 18, no. 1 (1999).

"Mid-year 2000: Ongoing Instability and Displacement in Africa," by the U.S. Committee for Refugees, *Refugee Reports*, vol. 21, no. 7 (2000).

*Addressing Internal Displacement in Africa*, Statement of Roberta Cohen to the Ethiopian Community Development Council's Annual Meeting, held on June 20, 2000. Available at: www.brook.edu/views/speeches/cohenr/20000620.htm

## **Country-Specific**

Algeria

IDPs in Algeria, the Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"Tough Nuts to Crack': Dealing with Difficult Situations of Internal Displacement," Working Paper prepared by Roberta Cohen for Conference held January 28, 1999. Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/conferences/19990128wp.htm

"Hard Cases: Internal Displacement in Turkey, Burma and Algeria," by Roberta Cohen, *Forced Migration Review*, 6 (December 1999), pp. 25-28.

Angola

IDPs in Angola, the Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*If this Peace Is Real: The Return Home of Uprooted Angolans*, by Tom Argent, U.S. Committee for Refugees, December 1995.

*Recovering from 30 Years of War: Refugee Women and Children in Angola*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, December 1996.

Internal Displacement in Southern Africa: Focus Angola, by Anna Richardson, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, April 1999.

*Angola Unravels: The Rise and Fall of the Lusaka Peace Process*, by Human Rights Watch, September 1999 (includes IDP information).

Summary Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General on Internally Displaced Persons on his Mission to Angola, 31 October – 9 November, 2000. Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/idp.htm

*Workshop on the UN Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, Luanda, Angola 29-31 August 2000*, by the Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council, 2000. Available at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission to Angola, 12-17 March 2001, Findings and Recommendations, by the Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement, 2001. Available at: www.idpproject.org

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Angola*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/2001/5/Add.5, January 25, 2001.

"Angola: *Deslocados* in the Province of Huambo," by Nina M. Birkeland and Alberta Uimbo Gomes in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 17-48.

"A Life of Improvisation! – Displaced People in Malanje and Benguela," by Filomena Andrade in *Communities and Reconstruction in Angola*, edited by P. Robson, Development Workshop Occasional Paper No. 1 (forthcoming).

Burundi

IDPs in Burundi, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Burundi: Rapid Health Assessment of Rwandan Refugees, Burundian Returnees and Internally Displaced Persons, Programme and Technical Support Division, UNHCR, 1994.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis. M. Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Burundi*, UN Doc

E/CN.4/1995/50/Add. 2, November 28, 1994. Also available in *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 14, nos. 1&2 (1995), pp. 89-127.

*Burundi's Uprooted People: Caught in the Spiral of Violence*, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1995.

*From Coup to Coup: Thirty Years of Death, Fear, and Displacement in Burundi*, by Jeff Drumtra, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1996.

Burundi: Forced Relocation: New Patterns of Human Rights Abuses, by Amnesty International, AFR 16/19/97, 1997.

"Burundi: A Patchwork of Displacement," by the U.S. Committee for Refugees in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 15-56.

Proxy Targets: Civilians in the War in Burundi, by Human Rights Watch, March 1998.

"Integrating Protection and Human Rights into Relief and Development: the Case of Burundi," by Meriam Ghalmi in *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 18, no. 1 (1999), pp. 67-82.

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission to Burundi, 18-22 December 2000, Findings and Recommendations, by the Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement, 2000. Available at: www.idpproject.org

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Forced Relocation in Burundi*, E/CN.4/2001/5/Add. 1, March 6, 2000.

*Burundi Neglecting Justice In Making Peace*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 12, no. 2 (A), April 2000.

"Forced Relocation in Uganda, Rwanda and Burundi: Emerging Policy," by Jon Bennett, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000).

*Burundi: Conditions in "Regroupment Camps": An Update*, by Amnesty International, AFR 16/13/00, June 2000.

*Burundi Emptying The Hills: Regroupment in Burundi*, Human Rights Watch, vol. 12, no. 4 (A), June 2000.

*Out of Sight, Out of Mind: Conflict and Displacement in Burundi*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, October 2000.

"Burundi: Developing Strategies for Self-Reliance. A Study of Displacement in Four Provinces," by Genevieve Boutin and Salvatore Nkurunziza in *Caught Between Borders: Response* 

*Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 48-77.

"The Problems of Displaced and Returnee Women Faced with Current Land Tenure Policies in Burundi," by Sabine Sabimbona in *Women's Land and Property Rights in Situations of Conflict and Reconstruction*, A Reader based on the February 1998 Inter-Regional Consultation in Kigali, Rwanda, edited by Alfred Buregaya, Marguerite Garling, Jill Craig and Barbara Harrell-Bond, UNIFEM, 2001, pp. 69-81.

United Nations General Assembly and Commission on Human Rights Reports of the Special Rapporteur on the Situation of Human Rights in Burundi, Mrs. Marie-Therese A. Keita Bocoum (see in particular UN Docs. A/53/490, October 13, 1998; E/CN.4/2000/34, February 25, 2000; and E/CN.4/2001/44, March 19, 2001).

#### Congo Brazzaville

*IDPs in Congo Brazzaville*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u> (forthcoming).

#### Democratic Republic of Congo

*IDPs in Democratic Republic of Congo*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

*Inducing the Deluge: Zaire's Internally Displaced People*, by R.G. Roberts, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1993.

*Maisisi, Down the Road from Goma: Ethnic Cleansing and Displacement in Eastern Zaire*, by Sheldon Yett, U.S. Committee for Refugees, June 1996.

Great Lakes Region: Still in Need of Protection: Repatriation, Refoulement and the Safety of Refugees and the Internally Displaced, by Amnesty International, AFR 02/07/97, 1997.

*Site Visit to Eastern Congo/Zaire: Analysis of Humanitarian and Political Issues*, by Eleanor Bedford, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1997.

*Casualties Of War: Civilians, Rule of Law, and Democratic Freedoms*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 11, no. 1 (A) February 1999.

*Eastern Congo Ravaged: Killing Civilians and Silencing Protest*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 12, no. 3 (A), May 2000.

*Uganda in Eastern DRC: Fueling Political And Ethnic Strife*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 13, no. 2 (A), March 2001.

Eritrea

IDPs in Eritrea, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Ethiopians and Eritreans: The Struggle to Return and Rebuild their Nations and their Lives*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

*Ethiopia and Eritrea. Human Rights Issues in a Year of Armed Conflict*, by Amnesty International, AFR 04/03/99, May 21, 1999.

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission to Ethiopia and Eritrea, (16-21 October 2000), Findings and Recommendations, by the Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement, 2000. Available at: <a href="https://www.idpproject.org">www.idpproject.org</a>

*Eritrea: Conflict and Involuntary Population Displacements*, by Assefaw Bariagaber, WRITENET Paper No. 05/2000 for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, (July 2000).

"Eritrea: Massive Displacement from War," by U.S. Committee for Refugees, *Refugee Reports*, vol. 21, no. 7 (August 2000).

Ethiopia

IDPs in Ethiopia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Ethiopians and Eritreans: The Struggle to Return and Rebuild their Nations and their Lives*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

Decade of Displacement in Ethiopia: Internally Displaced Persons and Humanitarian Response, by William DeMars, Refugee Policy Group, October 1992.

*Evacuees from Border Towns in Tigray Setting up Makeshift Camps*, by UNDP Emergencies Unit for Ethiopia (UN EUE), January 8, 1999.

*Ethiopia and Eritrea. Human Rights Issues in a Year of Armed Conflict*, by Amnesty International, AFR 04/03/99, May 21, 1999.

Report of Nutrition Survey Among Internally Displaced Communities in Tigray Region, Ethiopia, by the SCF UK and the Relief Society of Tigray, August 1999.

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission to Ethiopia and Eritrea, (16-21 October 2000), Findings and Recommendations, by the Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement, 2000. Available at: <a href="https://www.idpproject.org">www.idpproject.org</a>

"Seeking the Daily Routine of Life, Ethiopia's Displaced Have Been Neglected," by Refugees International, *Refugees International Bulletin*, January 27, 2000.

Guinea

IDPs in Guinea, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone: A Human Rights Crisis for Refugees and the Internally Displaced*, by Amnesty International, AFR 05/005/2001, June 25, 2001.

#### Guinea-Bissau

*IDPs in Guinea-Bissau*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

#### Kenya

IDPs in Kenya, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Failing the Internally Displaced: The UNDP Displaced Persons Program in Kenya*, by Human Rights Watch, 1997.

"Ethnic Clashes, Displaced Persons and the Potential for Refugee Creation in Kenya: A Forbidding Forecast," by A. M. Abdullahi, *The International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 9, issue 2 (April 1997), pp. 196-206.

"UN and African Responsibility to Provide Human Rights Protection to the Internally Displaced: Learning Lessons from the Experience of UNDP in Kenya," by Binaifer Nowrojee, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 18, no. 1 (1999), pp. 56-66.

*The Current Situation of Internally Displaced Persons In Kenya*, by Prisca Mbura Kamungi, Jesuit Refugee Service (JRS), March 2001.

## Liberia

IDPs in Liberia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Our Forgotten Family. Liberians: The Plight of Refugees and the Displaced*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1991.

*Liberia: What Hope for Peace?*, by Richard Carver, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD (October 1994).

Participation of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons in the Liberian Elections, by David Haeri, Art Hansen, Anna Schowengerdt and Fred Spielberg, Refugee Policy Group, March 1997.

*Emerging from the Destruction: Human Rights Challenges Facing the New Liberian Government*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 9, no. 7 (A), November 1997.

Human Rights Brief, vol. 7, no. 2 (Winter 2000).

#### Nigeria

IDPs in Nigeria, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*The Ogoni Crisis: A Case-Study of Military Repression in Southeastern Nigeria*, by Human Rights Watch, July 1995.

"Exiles in Their Own Home: Conflicts and Internal Population Displacement in Nigeria," by O. Okechukwu Ibeanu, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 12, no. 2 (1999).

The Price of Oil: Corporate Responsibility and Human Rights Violations in Nigeria's Oil Producing Communities, by Human Rights Watch, January 1999.

Crackdown in the Niger Delta, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 11, no. 2 (A), May 1999.

*Humanitarian Issues in the Biafra Conflict*, by Nathaniel H. Goetz, New Issues in Refugee Research, Working Paper No. 36, UNHCR, April 2001.

Rwanda

IDPs in Rwanda, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"The Camps for the Displaced Populations of Rwanda," by Janice Miller and Deidre Wulf in *Refugee Women and Reproductive Health Care: Reassessing Priorities*, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1994, pp. 23-31.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Note on Mission to Rwanda*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1995/50/Add. 4, February 16, 1995.

"Rwanda's Internally Displaced: A Conundrum within a Conundrum," by Larry Minear and Randolph C. Kent in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 57-95.

"The Kibeho Crisis: Towards A More Effective System of International Protection for IDPs," by Stephanie T E Kleine-Ahlbrandt, *Forced Migration Review*, 2 (August 1998), pps. 8-11.

*Leave None To Tell The Story: Genocide in Rwanda*, by Alison Des Forges, Human Rights Watch and Federation Internationale des Ligues des Droits de L'Homme, Human Rights Watch, March 1999.

Rwanda. Displacement in the North-West (Ruhengeri and Gysenyi), by WFP, June 1999.

"Forced Relocation in Uganda, Rwanda and Burundi: Emerging Policy," by Jon Bennett, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000).

Senegal

IDPs in Senegal, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Sierra Leone

*IDPs in Sierra Leone*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

*The Usual People: Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons from Sierra Leone*, by Tom Argent, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1995.

*The Children's War: Toward Peace in Sierra Leone*, by Marc Sommers, Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, April 1997.

*Getting Away with Murder, Mutilation, and Rape: New Testimony from Sierra Leone*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 11, no. 3 (A), June 1999.

*Workshop on the UN Guiding Principles: Freetown, Sierra Leone, 12-14 March 2001, by the Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council, 2001. Available at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>* 

*Guinea, Liberia and Sierra Leone: A Human Rights Crisis for Refugees and the Internally Displaced*, by Amnesty International, AFR 05/005/2001, June 25, 2001.

Somalia

IDPs in Somalia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

The Displaced Population in South and Central Somalia and Preliminary Proposals for Their *Re-Integration and Rehabilitation*, by J.R. Rogge, University of Manitoba, Disaster Research Unit, Winnipeg, Canada, September 4, 1992.

"Somalia: From Disintegration to Reconstruction," in *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 51-63.

Comprehensive Study Prepared by Mr. Francis Deng, Representative of the Secretary General on Human Rights Issues Related to Internally Displaced Persons E/CN. 4/1993/35, January 21, 1993 (contains profile on displacement in Somalia).

The Bones of Our Children Are Not Yet Buried: The Looming Spectre of Famine and Massive Human Rights Abuses in Somalis, by John Prendergast, Centre of Concern, Horn of Africa Project, Washington, D.C., 1994.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Reports of Independent Expert Appointed by the Secretary-General on the Situation of Human Rights in Somalia, Ms. Mona Rishmawi (see in particular UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/96, January 16, 1998 and E/CN.4/1999/103, February 18, 1999). Available at: www.unhchr.ch

Southern Africa

*Apartheid's Other Victims: Refugees and Displaced People in Southern Africa*, edited by Clive Nettleton and Margi Bryant, British Refugee Council (BRC), London, p. 1988.

*Peace or Terror: A Crossroads for Southern Africa's Uprooted*, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1989.

Apartheid, Destabilization and Displacement: the Dynamics of the Refugee Crisis in Southern Africa, by Okechukwu Ibeanu, Oxford University Press, 1990.

Internal Displacement in South Africa – A Discussion Brief for UNICEF, by Everett M. Ressler, UNICEF, 1993.

*Kwazulu-Natal- Continued Violence and Displacement*, by Richard Carver, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, July 1996.

"Living in the Shadows: IDPs in Southern Africa," by Marion Ryan Sinclair, *Forced Migration Review*, 1 (January-April 1998), pp. 12-14.

The Sudan

IDPs in the Sudan, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"Profile of the Displaced in Khartoum," by C.P. Dodge, A. Mohamed and P.J. Kuch, *Disasters*, vol. 11, 4 (1987), pp. 243-250.

*Khartoum's Displaced Persons: A Decade of Despair*, by Millard Burr, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1990.

*Refugees in Their Own Country: The Forced Relocation of Squatters and Displaced Persons from Khartoum*, by Africa Watch, Human Rights Watch, vol. 4, no. 8, July 10, 1992.

Eradicating the Nuba, by Human Rights Watch, September 1992.

"The Sudan: A Nation Divided," in *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 64-81.

Comprehensive Study Prepared by Mr. Francis Deng, Representative of the Secretary General on Human Rights Issues Related to Internally Displaced Persons UN Doc. E/CN. 4/1993/35, January 21, 1993 (contains profile of displacement in the Sudan).

Sudan 1990-1992: Food Aid, Famine, and Failure, by Millard Burr, U.S. Committee for Refugees, May 1993.

War in South Sudan: The Civilian Toll, by Human Rights Watch, October 1993.

*The Lost Boys: Child Soldiers and Unaccompanied Boys in Southern Sudan*, by Human Rights Watch, November 1994.

*"In the Name of God," Repression Continues in Northern Sudan*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 6, no. 9, November 1994.

Sudan's Invisible Citizens: The Policy of Abuse Against the Displaced People of the North, by African Rights, London, 1995.

*Requiem for the Sudan: War, Drought and Disaster Relief on the Nile*, by J. Millard Burr and Robert O. Collins, Westview Press, Boulder, CO, 1995.

War and Drought in Sudan: Essays on Population Displacement, El Tahir Eltigani, University Press of Florida, February 1995.

*Civilian Devastation: Abuses by All Parties in the War in Southern Sudan*, by Human Rights Watch, June 1996.

*Population Displacement in Sudan: Patterns, Responses and Coping Strategies*, by Gamal Hamid, Centre for Migration Studies, 1997.

"The Sudan: Cradle of Displacement," by Hiram A. Ruiz in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies* of the Internally Displaced, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 139-174.

Sudan Between Peace and War: Internally Displaced Women in Khartoum and South and West Kordofan, by Amna E. Badri and Intisar I. Abdel Sadiq, UNIFEM Nairobi, 1998.

Coping with the Dynamics of Culture and Change: Sudanese Refugees in East Africa and Internally Displaced Persons in Southern Sudan, by the Sudan Cultural Digest Project (SCDP), December 1998.

*Follow the Cows and Women—Personal Stories of Sudan's Uprooted People*, by Jeff Drumtra, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1999.

Famine in Sudan, 1998: The Human Rights Causes, by Human Rights Watch, February 8, 1999.

*Only Through Peace: Hope for Breaking the Cycle of Famine and War in Sudan*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, September 1999.

"The Nuba People: Confronting Cultural Liquidation," by Roger Winter in *White Nile Black Blood: War, Leadership, and Ethnicity from Khartoum to Kampala*, edited by Jay Spaulding and Stephanie Beswick, Lawrenceville, The Red Sea Press, Inc., NJ, 2000.

Aid Policy and Displacement in Sudan: the Case of Displaced Southerners in the Transition Zone, Paper for International Colloquium - War, Famine and Forced Migrations in Today's World, Cortona, May 26-27, 2000, by Fondazione Giangaicomo Feltrinelli, 2000.

"The Sudan: The Unique Challenges of Displacement in Khartoum," by Karen Jacobsen, Sue Lautze and Abdal Monim Kheider Osman in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 78-98.

*Internally Displaced: Refugees and Returnees from and in the Sudan*, by Desiree Nilsson, the Nordic Africa Institute, February 2001.

*Report of an Investigation into Oil Development, Conflict and Displacement in Western Upper Nile, Sudan,* by Georgette Gagnon and John Ryle, commissioned by the Canadian Auto Workers Union, Steelworkers Humanity Fund, The Simons Foundation, United Church of Canada's Division of World Outreach and World Vision Canada, October 2001.

## Uganda

IDPs in Uganda, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Human Rights in Uganda: A Season of Hope for its Refugees and Displaced Persons, by Roger Winter, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1986.

*Uganda- Breaking the Cycle: Protecting Human Rights in the Northern War Zone*, by Amnesty International, AFR 59/01/99, March 17, 1997. (contains information on IDPs).

*The Scars of Death: Children Abducted by the Lord's Resistance Army in Uganda*, by Human Rights Watch/Africa, September 1997.

*Workshop on the UN Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, Kampala, Uganda 29-31 March 1999,* by the Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council, 1999. Available at www.idppproject.org "Forced Relocation in Uganda, Rwanda and Burundi: Emerging Policy," by Jon Bennett, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000).

"Uganda: The Resilience of Tradition. Displaced Acholi in Kitgum," by Ambrose Olaa in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 99-113.

#### Americas

Americas section of "Global Overview," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, 1998, pp. 64-71.

CIREFCA: At the Crossroads Between Uprooted People and Development in Central America, by Dennis Gallagher and Janelle M. Diller, Working Paper no. 27, Commission for the Study of International Migration and Cooperative Economic Development, 1990. International Conference on Central American Refugees (CIREFCA): Guatemala City, 29-31 May 1989, by UNHCR, 1989.

*Central America: Conditions of Refugees and Displaced Persons, Report to Congressional Requesters*, by the U.S. General Accounting Office (GAO) - National Security and International Affairs Division, 1989.

"Refugee Aid, Displaced Persons, and Development in Central America," by Ed Mihalkanin in Robert F. Gorman, *Refugee Aid and Development: Theory and Practice*, Greenwood Press, Westport, 1993.

*Memoria del Coloquio Internacional: 10 Años de la Declaración de Cartagena sobre Refugiados,* by the Inter-American Institute of Human Rights and UNHCR, San Jose, Costa Rica, December 1994.

*Internal Displacement in the Americas: Some Distinctive Features*, by Roberta Cohen and Gimena Sanchez-Garzoli, Occasional Paper, Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, May 2001. (This is the English version of an article to be published in Spanish by the Inter-American Institute for Human Rights and UNHCR.)

# **Country-Specific**

Colombia

IDPs in Colombia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

The Pan-American Health Organization's *desplazados* website contains many general documents, guides and health information on internally displaced persons in Colombia (in English and Spanish): <u>www.disaster.info.desastres.net/desplazados/desplazados.htm</u>

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis. M. Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Colombia*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1995/50/Add.1., October 3, 1994. Also available in *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 14, nos. 1&2 (1995), pp. 45-88.

*Desplazados por la Violencia en Colombia*, by the Conferencia Episcopal de Colombia, Kimpres, Bogotá, 1995.

'Just What Do We Have to Do to Stay Alive,' Colombia's Internally Displaced: Dispossessed and Exiled in Their Own Land, by Amnesty International, AMR 23/48/97. October 1, 1997.

"In Search of Hope: The Plight of Displaced Colombians," by Liliana Obregon and Maria Stavropoulou in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, 1998, pp. 399-454.

*Colombia's Silent Crisis: One Million Displaced by Violence*, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1998.

Internal Displacement in Colombia: Workshop on Implementing the Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, Summary Report, May 27-29, 1999-Bogotá, Colombia, sponsored by the Brookings Institution Project on Internal Displacement, Grupo de Apoyo a Organizaciones de Desplazados (GAD), and the U.S.Committee for Refugees, prepared by Bjorn Pettersson, UN Doc: E/CN.4/2000/83/Add. 2. Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp

The Spanish report of the above workshop, *Memorias: Seminario de Divulgación de Los Principios Rectores de los Dezplazamientos Internos*, by Juan Manuel Bustillo and Carlos Huertas, Editorial Codice Ltda, Bogotá, Colombia, 1999 contains the transcript of the workshop together with a comprehensive summary.

Mission to Colombia with a View to Develop Best Practices to Internal Displacement, by James Kunder and Bo Viktor Nylund, Office of Emergencies Programmes Working Paper Series, 1999.

*Third Report on the Human Rights Situation in Colombia*, by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, OEA/Ser.L/II.102, Doc. 9, Rev 1, February 26, 1999 (see Chapter VI on Internal Displacement).

"Acompañamiento in Colombia: International Human Rights Protection of IDPs," by Luis Enrique Eguren, *Forced Migration Review*, 4 (April 1999), pp.16-18.

*Un País Que Huye: Desplazamiento y Violencia En Una Nacion Fragmentada*, by Jorge E. Rojas Rodríguez, CODHES, published by CODHES and UNICEF Colombia, Bogotá, May 1999.

A Charade of Concern: The Abandonment of Colombia's Forcibly Displaced Commission for Refugee Women and Children, May 1999. "The Deng Principles and Forced Displacement in Colombia," by Raul Hernandez Rodriguez and Julio Enrique Soler B., *Investigaciones*, DIAL, Bogotá, no.1 (July 1999).

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Follow up Mission to Colombia*, E/CN/4/2000/83/Add.1, January 11, 2000.

*Report About Forced Displacement in Colombia: January-December 1999*, by the Support Group for Displaced People's Organizations (GAD), Bogotá, Colombia, March 2000.

"Through the Developmentalist's Looking Glass: Conflict-Induced Displacement and Involuntary Resettlement in Colombia," by Robert Muggah, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 13, no. 2 (2000).

*Memorias: Encuentro Nacional de Experiencias de Retorno*, by the Grupo de Apoyo a Organizaciones de Desplazados, Bogotá, April 2000.

"Arable Land and Internal Displacement in Colombia," by Bjorn Pettersson, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000), pp. 40-41.

*Colombia: Return to Hope, Forcibly Displaced Communities of Urabá and the Medio Atrato Region, by Amnesty International, AMR 23/23/00, June 2000.* 

*Colombia: Protecting Civilians in Ever-Present Violence and Fear*, by the International Committee of the Red Cross, ICRC Special Report, July 2000.

*Memorias: Agenda para la Superación de la Crisis de Derecho Humanos en Colombia, Septiembre 7 y 8 del año 2000, Bogotá, Colombia*, by Diakonia, December 2000 (see Chapter IV entitled La Politica del Gobierno Pastrana Frente al Desplazamiento Forzado: Sin Rumbo).

*Desplazamiento Forzado En Antioquia 1985-1998*, by Maria Teresa Uribe de Hincapoe et al, Secretariado Nacional de Pastoral Social, Seccion de Movilidad Humana and Universidad De Antioquia, Instituto de Estudios Politicos, 2001 (a series of 10 books that extensively document the internal displacement situation in the Department of Antioquia). For copies contact: <u>snpscol@cable.net.co</u>

Consulta Con Mujeres Desplazadas Sobre Los Principios Rectores del Desplazamiento, Bogotá, 16-18 de Mayo 2001, by UNHCR and OCHA, 2001.

*Workshop on the UN Guiding Principles: Santa Fe de Antioqua, Colombia, 15-17 May 2001*, by the Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council, 2001. Available at: <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission to Colombia, 16-24 August 2001, Findings and Recommendations, by the Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement, 2001.

"Colombia: Creating Peace Amid the Violence. The Church, NGOs and the Displaced," by Esperanza Hernandez Delgado and Turid Laegreid in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 205-223.

*Report On Forced Displacement in Colombia: January 2000-May 2001*, by the Support Group for Displaced People's Organizations (GAD), Bogotá, Colombia, August 2001.

"The Crisis of Internal Displacement," by Hiram A. Ruiz, *Crimes of War: The Magazine*, August 2001. Available at www.crimesofwar.org

*Éxodo: Boletin Sobre Desplazamiento Interno En Colombia*, bi-monthly magazine on internal displacement in Colombia, by the GAD, Bogotá, Colombia, August 1995-July 2001. Available at: www.exodo.org.co

Boletin Codhes INFORMA, by CODHES (periodic bulletin on forced displacement), August 1996-to the present. Available at: www.codhes.org.co

*RUT Informa Sobre Desplazamiento Forzado en Colombia*, by the Colombian Episcopal Conference (trimester information bulletin on forced displacement in Colombia).

## El Salvador

Aiding the Desplazados of El Salvador: The Complexity of Humanitarian Assistance, by John Mullaney, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1984.

*El Salvador's Other Victims: The War on the Displaced*, by the Lawyers Committee for International Human Rights and Americas Watch, April 1984.

"Displaced Persons and Human Rights: The Crisis in El Salvador," by P. Frisk, *Third World Quarterly*, vol. 12, 3/4 (1990-1), pp. 40-63.

We Have a Voice and We Can Speak: Women and Children Refugees, Repatriates and Displaced in El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Mexico, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

"Displaced Persons and Human Rights: the Crisis in El Salvador," by Peter Sollis, *Bulletin of Latin American Research*, vol. 11 (January 1992).

"El Salvador: Peace in the Balance," in *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 82-92.

Comprehensive Study Prepared by Mr. Francis Deng, Representative of the Secretary General on Human Rights Issues Related to Internally Displaced Persons, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1993/35, January 21, 1993 (contains profile of displacement in El Salvador).

*Conflict, Displacement and Reintegration: Household Survey Evidence from El Salvador*, Sarah Gammage and Jorge Fernandez, International Center for Research on Women, Working Paper No. 25, UNHCR (July 2000).

Guatemala

Assistance and Control: Policies Toward Internally Displaced Populations in Guatemala, by Patricia Pessar, Association for the Advancement of Social Sciences (AVANCSO), Hemispheric Migration Project, Georgetown University, 1990.

*Institutional Policy toward the Internally Displaced in Guatemala*, by Association for the Advancement of the Social Sciences Staff, Georgetown University, July 1990.

Scientists and Human Rights in Guatemala, by the National Academy of Sciences, National Academy Press, 1992.

Human Rights and Guatemalan Displaced Persons, by H. Hey, Netherlands Quarterly of Human Rights, Netherlands Institute of Human Rights, vol. 10, no. 4 (1992), pp. 461-480.

We Have a Voice and We Can Speak: Women and Children Refugees, Repatriates and Displaced in El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Mexico, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

*Guatemala: Targeting Displaced People*, by Amnesty International, London: Amnesty International, AI AMR 34/20/92, May 1992.

*Fourth Report of the Situation of Human Rights in Guatemala*, by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, Washington, D.C., OEA/Ser.L/V/II.83, Doc. 16 rev, June 1, 1993.

"Displaced in Mixco, Guatemala," by Fabiana Frayssinet, *Hedip Forum*, no. 2, November 1993, pp. 19-20.

Special Report on the Human Rights Situation in the So-Called "Communities of Peoples in , by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, Washington, D.C., OEA/Ser.L/V/11.86 Doc. 5 rev. 1, June 16, 1994.

*Guatemala: Displacement, Return and the Peace Process*, by Patrick Costello, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, April 1995.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report by the Independent Expert on the Situation of Human Rights in Guatemala, Mrs. Monica Pinto, *Assistance to Guatemala in the* 

*Field of Human Rights*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1996/15, December 5, 1995 (contains information on IDPs).

"Property Rights of Returning Displaced Persons: The Guatemalan Experience," by A.R. Painter, *Harvard Human Rights Journal*, vol. 9 (Spring 1996).

"Peace Dividend Or Broken Promise For Guatemala's Internally Displaced?," by Julianna E. Lindsey, *Refugee Reports*, vol. 18, no. 5 (1997).

"Migration and the Displaced in Guatemala City in the Context of a Flawed National Transformation," by Gisela Gellert in *Journeys of Fear: Refugee Return and National Transformation in Guatemala*, edited by Liisa L. North and Alan B. Simons, McGill-Queens University Press, Montreal, 1999.

"Preventing Internal Displacement: Conciliating Land Conflicts in Guatemala," by Cecilia Bailliet in *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, no. 3 (2000).

"Unfinished Business: the IDP Land Question," by Cecilia Bailliet, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000), pp. 16-19.

*Fifth Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Guatemala*, by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, OEA/Ser.L/V/II.111, Doc. 21 rev., April 6, 2001 (see Chapter XIV on the Human Rights of Those Uprooted by the Armed Conflict). Available at: <u>www.oas.org</u>

Haiti

*Fugitives From Justice: The Crisis of Internal Displacement in Haiti*, by Human Rights Watch/Americas, Jesuit Refugee Service/USA and the National Coalition for Haitian Refugees, vol. VI, no. 10 (August 1994).

*Haiti: Prospects for Democracy*, by Patrick Costello, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD (September 1995).

Mexico

IDPs in Mexico, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

We Have a Voice and We Can Speak: Women and Children Refugees, Repatriates and Displaced in El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Mexico, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

*Población Desplazada en Chiapas*, by Gustavo Castro and Onecimo Hidalgo, CIEPAC/PCS, Mexico, July 1999.

"We Live Displaced': A Suffering People Cries Out for An Answer," *SIPAZ Report*, vol. 5, no. 4 (November 2000).

## Nicaragua

Report of the Situation of Human Rights of a Segment of the Nicaraguan Population of Miskito Origin and Resolution on the Friendly Settlement Procedure Regarding the Human Rights Situation of a Segment of the Nicaraguan Population of Miskito Origin, by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights, Organization of American States, OEA/Ser.L/V/II.62, Doc. 26, May 16, 1984.

*Reintegration of Nicaraguan Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons*, by Marvin Ortega, CIPRA, Georgetown University, Washington, D.C., 1991.

We Have a Voice and We Can Speak: Women and Children Refugees, Repatriates and Displaced in El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua and Mexico, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1992.

Peru

IDPs in Peru, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*The Decade of Chaqwa: Peru's Internal Refugees*, by Robin Kirk, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1991.

*To Build Anew: An Update on Peru's Internally Displaced People*, by Robin Kirk, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1993.

Desplazados: Selva Central, by Marisol Rodriguez Vargas, Lima, 1993.

Aproximaciones a la Situación de los Desplazados en el Perú, by Comisión Andina de Juristas and UNHCR, March 1993.

Situación Juridica De Los Desplazados En El Perú, by Comisión Andina de Juristas, Lima, April 1993.

"The Internally Displaced of Peru: The Option of Return for Communities in Huanta Province, Ayacucho," by David Westwood, 18 *RPN* (January 1995). Available at: www.fmreview.org/lframes.htm

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Peru*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1996/52/Add. 1, January 4, 1996.

*Go Home/Stay Put: Tough Options for Displaced Peruvians*, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1996.

Displacement and Civil Society in Peru, by World Vision, 1996.

"Will Peru's Displaced Return?," by Maria Stavropoulou in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., pp. 455-494.

Propuesta de MENADES al Ministerio de Promoción de la Mujer y Desarrollo Humano (PROMUDEH) sobre el Tema de la Población Afectada por Violencia Politica, by the Mesa Nacional sobre Desplazamiento y Afectados por Violencia Política (MENADES), December 4, 2000.

"The Rise and Fall of 'Internally Displaced People' in the Central Peruvian Andes," by F. Stepputat and N. Sorensen, *Development and Change*, vol. 32, no. 4 (2001), pp. 769-792.

## Asia

Asia section of "Global Overview," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 64-71.

The Human Rights Implications of Internal Involuntary Displacement and Forced Eviction in Southeast Asia and South Asia, by Ayesha Venkateswaran, Asia Forum for Human Rights and Development (Forum-Asia), January-April 1996.

Asia: Refuge! Ethnicity and Nationality, by Amnesty International, October 1, 1997.

Report on the Proceedings of the Regional Consultation on the Situation of Internally Displaced Peoples, October 21-22, 1999, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, by Forum Asia, 1999.

"Population Displacement in South Asia: A Critical Review," by Irene Khan, *South Asia Refugee Watch*, vol. 1, no. 2 (December 1999), pp. 69-75.

"The IDPs of South Asia: Strategising for Protection and Rehabilitation," by Sumit Sen, *South Asia Refugee Watch*, vol. 1, no. 2 (December 1999), pp. 76-82.

*Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Special Issue on Internal Displacement in Asia, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000) (based on the *Regional Conference on Internal Displacement in Asia* co-sponsored by the Brookings Project, Forum Asia, Norwegian Refugee Council, UNHCR, the U.S. Committee for Refugees and the University of Chulalongkorn), in particular:

"Forced Migration in South-Asia: A Critical Review," by Samir Das, Sabyasachi Basu Ray Chaudhury and Tapan Bose, pp. 48-57.

"Internal Displacement in South-East Asia," by Evelyn Balais Serrano, pp. 58-63.

"Displacement, Human Rights and Conflict Resolution': An International Conference on Forced Migration in the South Asia Region, held in Calcutta, 20-22 April 2000," by Didier Bertrand, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 13, no. 2 (2000), pp. 223-225.

*Forced Migration in South Asian Region: Displacement, Human Rights and Conflict Resolution*, edited by Omprakash Mishra, Centre for Refugee Studies of Jadavpur University in collaboration with the Brookings Institution Project on Internal Displacement, Manak Publishers, New Delhi (forthcoming 2001).

## **Country-Specific**

Afghanistan

IDPs in Afghanistan, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Afghanistan: The Human Rights Crisis and the Refugees*, by Amnesty International, ASA/11/02/95, February 1, 1995 (contains information on IDPs).

"The Dilemma of the Internally Displaced," by UNHCR, *Refugees: Focus Afghanistan*, UNHCR, no. 108 (1997).

*Interim Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Afghanistan*, by the Special Rapporteur on Afghanistan, UN Document A/52/493, October 16, 1997 (see VI -Situation of Internally Displaced Persons and Refugees).

Patterns of Displacement in Afghanistan, by WFP, October 1999.

*Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Special Issue on Internal Displacement in Asia, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), in particular:

"International Standards of Protection versus the Effects of Two Decades of War on the Afghan People," by Marcus Dolder, pp. 114-128.

"Internal Displacement in Afghanistan: Coping Strategies and Gender Differences – Applying International Human Rights Standards," by Judy Benjamin, pp. 132-136.

"Commentary," by Ahmad Fahim Hakim, (2000), pp. 137-141.

Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement Mission to Afghanistan, 18-25 April 2001, Findings and Recommendations, by the Senior Inter-Agency Network on Internal Displacement, 2001. Available at: <a href="https://www.idpproject.org">www.idpproject.org</a>

"Afghanistan: Displaced in a Devastated Country," by Grant Farr in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 117-137.

*Afghanistan: Protect Civilians and Refugees*, by Amnesty International, ASA 11/012/2001, October 2001.

Bangladesh

IDPs in Bangladesh, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Living On The Edge: Essays on the Chittagong Hill Tracts*, edited by Subir Bhaumik, Meghna Guhathakurta and Sabyasachi Basu Ray Chaudhury, South Asia Forum for Human Rights and the Calcutta Research Group, Calcutta, 1997.

"Empowering Internally Displaced Peoples," by Mrinal Kanti Chakma, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 227-231.

*Bangladesh - Human Rights in the Chittagong Hill Tracts*, by Amnesty International, ASA 13/01/00, February 2000.

"The Fragility of Peace in the Chittagong Hill Tracts, Bangladesh," by Thomas Feeny, *Forced Migration Review*, 11 (October 2001), pp. 25-27.

## Cambodia

*Cambodia on the Brink of Peace*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1991.

Cambodia Can't Wait, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1993.

"Cambodia: Rebuilding a Nation," *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 94-106.

*Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Special Issue on Internal Displacement in Asia, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), in particular:

"Cambodia," by Shaun Williams, pp. 194-200.

"Comments on Principles Relating to Return, Resettlement, and Reintegration (Principles 28-30)," by Latt Ky, pp. 191-193.

China

*Yangtze! Yangtze! Debate Over the Three Gorges Project*, by Dai Qing, Probe International and Earthscan, London, 1989.

*Damming the Three Gorges: What the Dam Builders Don't Want You to Know*, edited by Grainne Ryder, Probe International, Toronto, September 1990.

*Economic Development and Human Rights in China's Interior*, A Report on a Project of the National Committee on U.S. China Relations, Inc., by Richard Madsen, Lourdes Beneria, Roberta Cohen, Karen Gulliver, Gillian Hart, Elizabeth Knup, Virginia Leary, June Mei, and Henry Shue, National Committee China Policy Series, no. 7, September 1993 (see section on "About-to-be displaced Residents of the Yangzi River Valley").

The Three Gorges Dam In China: Forced Resettlement, Suppression of Dissent and Labor Rights Concerns, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 7, no. 1, February 1995.

Environmental Costs and Social Implications of Reservoir Flooding: the Case of the Resettlement Programme as Part of the Three Gorges Dam Project, Jiahua Phan, Institute of World Economics & Politics, Workshop on Economy and Environment for Southeast Asia, Singapore, 21-3 May 1995.

The River Dragon Has Come! The Three Gorges Dam and the Fate of China's Yangtze River and Its People, edited by Dai Qing, M.E. Sharpe Inc. and Probe International, 1998.

*Resettlement Problems of the Three Gorges Dam: A Field Report by Wu Ming*, International Rivers Network, March 12, 1998.

"The Three Gorges: The Unexamined Toll of Development-Induced Displacement," by Martin Stein, *Forced Migration Review*, 1 (January-April 1998), pp. 7-9.

*Recent Experiences with Involuntary Resettlement: China – Shuikou (and Yantan)*, by the World Bank, June 2, 1998.

"China's Three Gorges: The Impact of Dam Construction on Emerging Human Rights," by Sarah C. Aird, *Human Rights Brief*, American University's Washington College of Law, vol. 8, issue 2, Winter 2001, pp. 24-37.

East Timor

*IDPs in Indonesia and East Timor*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

East Timor: A Crisis of Displacement, by Jana Mason, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1999.

*East Timor: A Difficult Transition*, by Anthony Goldstone, WRITENET Paper No. 12/1999 for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, May 1999.

"East Timor: Forced Resettlement," by John G. Taylor, *Forced Migration Review*, 5 (August 1999). Available at: <u>www.fmreview.org</u>

*Violence Erodes Prospects for Stability*, by Amnesty International, ASA 21/91/99, August 18, 1999.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, *Report of the High Commissioner for Human Rights on the Human Rights Situation in East Timor*, UN Document E/CN.4/S-4/CRP.1, September 17, 1999 (contains information on IDPs).

"Displacement in East Timor," by Gottfried Koefner, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 77-83.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: East Timor*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/2000/83/Add.3, April 6, 2000.

India

IDPs in India, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Before the Deluge: Human Rights Abuses at India's Narmada Dam, by Human Rights Watch, June 1992.

*India's Secret Army In Kashmir: New Patterns of Abuse Emerge in the Conflict*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 8, no. 4 (C), May 1996.

"Internal Displacement in Assam State, India," by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, July 18, 1998. Available at: www.refugees.org

Behind the Kashmir Conflict: Abuses by Indian Security Forces and Militant Groups Continue, by Human Rights Watch, July 1999.

Northeast India's Hidden Displacement, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 2000.

"Negotiating Access," by Subir Bhaumik, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000) pp. 142-158.

"Internal Displacement in India: Causes, Protection and Dilemmas," by Mahendra P. Lama, *Forced Migration Review*, 8 (August 2000), pp. 24-25.

"Rethinking the Guiding Principles: the Case of the Kashmiri Pandits," by K. C. Saha, *Forced Migration Review*, 8 (August 2000), pp. 26-28.

*Report of the National Seminar on Internally Displaced People in India (Sept. 22-24, 2000)*, by the Ecumenical Christian Centre, Whitefield, Bangalore, 2000. For copies contact: <u>eccentre@satyam.net.in</u>

"State, Identity Movements and Internal Displacement in the North-East," by Monirul Hussain, *Economic and Political Weekly*, December 16, 2000, pp. 4519-4523.

"Resettlement and Rehabilitation of Persons Displaced by Land Acquisition Should Form a Part of Land Acquisition Act, " by the National Human Rights Commission India, New Delhi, March 2001.

*No Refuge: the Plight of Conflict-Induced Internally Displaced Persons in India*, by South Asia Human Rights Documentation Centre (SAHRDC), March 16, 2001.

Indonesia

*IDPs in Indonesia and East Timor*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Indonesia: Communal Violence in West Kalimantan*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 9, no. 10 (C), December 1997.

Indonesia: The Violence in Ambon, by Human Rights Watch, March 1999.

*Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Special Issue on Internal Displacement in Asia, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), in particular:

"Indonesia's Internally Displaced and the United Nations' General Principles on Internal Displacement," by Agung Ayung Ratih, pp. 84-88.

"Indonesian Commission on Human Rights: The Role of National Commissions on Human Rights in Implementing Protection of Internally Displaced Persons," by Koesparmono Irsan, pp. 216-223.

Shadow Plays: The Crisis of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons in Indonesia, by Jana Mason, U.S. Committee for Refugees, January 2001.

"More than 50,000 Persons Displaced by Violence in Indonesia," by USCR, *Refugee Reports*, vol. 22, no. 3 (March 2001).

Report of the Seminar on Internal Displacement in Indonesia: Toward an Integrated Approach, Brookings Institution-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, Center for Research on Inter-Group Relations and Conflict Resolution (CERIC) of the University of Indonesia, National Commission on Human Rights (KomnasHAM), OCHA, UNDP and UNHCR, June 2001. Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/idp.htm Indonesia: The War in Aceh, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 13, no. 4 (C), August 2001.

#### Myanmar/Burma

*IDPs in Myanmar (Burma)*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"The War is Growing Worse and Worse": Refugees and Displaced Persons on the Thai-Burmese Border, by Courtland Robinson, U.S. Committee for Refugees, May 1990.

*Dispossessed: Forced Relocation and Extrajudicial Killings in Shan State*, by the Shan Human Rights Foundation, April 1998.

Forgotten Victims of a Hidden War: Internally Displaced Karen in Burma, by the Burma Ethnic Research Group and Friedrich Naumann Foundation, April 1998.

*Documentation on Internally Displaced Persons in Karenni*, by the Committee for Internally Displaced Karenni Persons (CIDKnP), 1999.

*Death Squads and Displacement: Systematic Executions, Village Destruction and the Flight of Villagers in Nyaunglebin District,* by the Karen Human Rights Group, KHRG #99-04, May 24, 1999. Available at: www.khrg.org

*Aftermath: Three Years of Dislocation in the Kayah State*, by Amnesty International, ASA 16/14/99, June 1, 1999.

"Hard Cases: Internal Displacement in Turkey, Burma and Algeria," by Roberta Cohen, *Forced Migration Review*, 6 (December 1999), pp. 25-28.

*Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Special Issue on Internal Displacement in Asia, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), in particular:

"Dealing with Sovereignty: Burma," by Jack Dunford, pp. 159-164.

"Comment on the Presentation by Jack Dunford," by Aung Htoo, pp. 165-167.

"Commentary on Dealing with Sovereignty: Myanmar (Burma)," by Steven Lanjouw, pp. 168-9.

*No Way In, No Way Out: Internal Displacement in Burma*, by Jana Mason, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 2000.

*Fear and Hope: Displaced Burmese Women in Burma and Thailand,* by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, March 2000.

Internal Displacement Among Burmese Ethnic Groups, Report of the Seminar on the Guiding Principles, Burma, March 2000, by the Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council, 2000. Available at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

*Conflict and Displacement in Karenni: the Need for Considered Responses*, by Vicky Bamforth, Steven Lanjouw and Graham Mortimer, Burma Ethnic Research Group, May 2000.

"Internal Displacement in Burma," by Steven Lanjouw, Graham Mortimer, and Vicky Bamforth, *Disasters*, vol. 24, issue 3 (September 2000), pp. 228-239.

"Burma: Displaced Karens. Like Water on the *Khu* Leaf," by Chris Cusano in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 138-171.

*Flight, Hunger and Survival: Repression and Displacement in the Villages of Papun and Nyaunglebin Districts*, by the Karen Human Rights Group, KHRG # 2001-03, October 2001. Available at <u>www.khrg.org</u>

North Korea

*The Famine in North Korea: Humanitarian Responses in Communist Nations*, by Sue Lautze, Feinstein International Famine Center, School of Nutrition Science and Policy, Tufts University (June 3, 1997).

*Refugee Survey Quarterly*, Special Issue on Internal Displacement in Asia, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), in particular:

"Relief Without Protection: Democratic People's Republic of Korea," by Erica Kang, pp. 110-112.

"Famine in Slow Motion: a Case Study of Internal Displacement in the Democratic People's Republic of Korea," by Courtland Robinson, pp. 113-127.

"Don't Let North Korean Softening Obscure Persistent Hunger," by Roberta Cohen, *The Christian Science Monitor* (September 6, 2000). Available at: <u>www.brook.edu/views/op-ed/cohenr/20000906.htm</u>

*The Great North Korean Famine: Famine, Politics, and Foreign Policy*, by Andrew S. Natsios, United States Institute of Peace Press, Washington, D.C., 2001.

Pakistan

*IDPs in Pakistan*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u> (forthcoming).

"Internal Displacement in Pakistan," by Syed Sikander Mehdi, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 89-100.

The Philippines

*IDPs in the Philippines*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

*A Future Without Refugees: Displaced Persons in the Philippines*, by E. Garcia, Ecumenical Commission for Displaced Families and Communities, Quezon City Philippines, August 1992.

*Internal Displacement in the Philippines: A USCR Site Visit Report*, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1997.

"Internal Displacement and Development in the Philippines," by Lourdes F. Go-Zurbano, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 70-76.

*Internal Displacement in Mindanao: the Challenge of Healing*, by Balay, DIASPORA, Research, Documentation and Information Program (RDIP), December 8, 2000. Available at: www.idpproject.org

*ECDF Monitor*, regular publication published by the Ecumenical Commission for Displaced Families and Communities (ECDF). Available from <u>ecdf@phil.gn.apc.org</u>

Sri Lanka

IDPs in Sri Lanka, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Sri Lanka: Island of Refugees*, by Courtland Robinson, U.S. Committee for Refugees, October 1991.

*People Want Peace: Repatriation and Reintegration in War-Torn Sri Lanka*, by Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1994.

Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis. M. Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Sri Lanka*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1994/44/Add.1, January 25, 1994. Also available in *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 14, nos. 1&2 (1995), pp. 1-44.

"Relocated Lives: Displacement and Resettlement within the Mahaweli Project, Sri Lanka," by Birgitte Resflund Sorensen, *Sri Lanka Studies*, no. 3, 1996.

*The People in Between: Sri Lankans Face Long Term Displacement as Conflict Escalates*, by Mario Gomez, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1996.

*Conflict and Displacement in Sri Lanka*, by Katie Hope and Hiram A. Ruiz, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1997.

"Sri Lanka's Vicious Circle of Displacement," by H. L. Seneviratne and Maria Stavropoulou in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, 1998, pp. 359-398.

*Mission to Sri Lanka with a View to Develop Best Practices to Internal Displacement*, by James Kunder and Bo Viktor Nylund, UNICEF, 1998.

"Internal Refugees in Sri Lanka: The Interplay of Ethnicity and Gender," by Joke Schrijvers, *The European Journal of Development Research*, vol. 9, no. 2 (1998).

"Displacement and Refugees: North-East Sri Lanka as a Case Study," by A. Rajasingam, *South Asian Refugee Watch*, vol. 1, no. 2 (December 1999), pp. 54-68.

"Homogenising Humanitarian Assistance to IDP Communities (A Cautionary Note From Sri Forced Migration Review, 4 (April 1999), pp. 19-21.

Sri Lanka. Displacement in the North and East, by WFP, July 1999.

"Spatial Practices of Integration and Segregation among Internally Displaced Persons and their Hosts in Sri Lanka," by Cathrine Brun, *Norsk Geografisk Tidsskrift*, 54, 2000.

*Remembering the Displaced: Celebrating Their Courage, Resilience and Determination*, by UNHCR, Colombo, 2000.

"Patterns of Displacement: Responsibilities and Consequences: Can Sri Lanka Provide Any Lessons/Ideas for the Asia Pacific Region?," by Arjuna Aluwihare, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 64-76.

"Integrating Protection and Assistance: Working with IDPs in Sri Lanka," by Bo Schack, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 19, no. 2 (2000), pp. 101-109.

"Capacity Building, Accountability and Humanitarianism in Sri Lanka," by Jennifer Hyndman and Malathi de Alwis, *Forced Migration Review*, 8 (August 2000), pp. 16-19.

"Listening to the Displaced: Analysis, Accountability and Advocacy in Action," by Simon Harris, *Forced Migration Review*, 8 (August 2000), pp. 20-21.

"Sri Lanka: Muslim Victims of Ethnic Cleansing Require Special Attention," by Refugees International, *Refugees International Bulletin*, March 27, 2001.

"Internally Displaced Persons and the Human Rights Commission," by Mario Gomez, *CHA Newsletter*, Consortium for Humanitarian Agencies, Sri Lanka, July/August 2001, pp. 1-11.

"Sri Lanka: Developing New Livelihoods in the Shadow of War. Displaced, Relocated and Resettled Muslims," by Birgitte Resflund Sorensen in *Caught Between Borders: Response* 

*Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 172-202.

## Tajikistan

Tajikistan: A Forgotten Civil War, by Minority Rights Group, MRG International Report, 1995.

*Return to Tajikistan: Continued Regional and Ethnic Tensions*, by Human Rights Watch/Helsinki, vol. 7, no. 9, May 1995.

CIS: Refugees and IDPs in Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, the Russian Federation and Tajikistan, by Human Rights Watch, 1996.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Tajikistan*, UN Doc. A/51/483/Add 1, October 24, 1996.

"Filling a Void: Responding to Internal Displacement in Tajikistan," by Jennifer McLean, *Central Asia Monitor*, no. 3 (1998).

"Turmoil in Tajikistan: Addressing the Crisis of Internal Displacement," by Jennifer McLean and Thomas Greene in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 313-358.

## Uzbekistan

IDPs in Uzbekistan, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

## Middle East

The Middle East sections of "Global Overview" and "Regional Responses," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, 1998, pp. 56-64 and 232-234.

"An Arab Convention on Forced Migration: Desirability and Possibilities," by Khadija Elmadmad, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 3, no. 3 (1991) pp. 461-481.

*Cairo Declaration on the Protection of Refugees and Displaced Persons in the Arab World*, by the International Institute of Humanitarian Law, November 19, 1992.

"The Social Implications of Population Displacement and Resettlement: An Overview with a Focus on the Arab Middle East," by S. Shami, *International Migration Review*, vol. 27, no. 1 (1993) pp. 4-33.

Rapport Sur Le Seminaire Regional Sur Les Deplacements Internes De Populations Dans Les Pays Arabes, Droits de l'homme et Droit International Humanitaire, organized by IOM and Le Centre pour les Droits de l'Homme, Universite Jinane in cooperation with the ICRC, UNFPA, and UNHCR, Tripoli, Libya, June 10-12, 1995.

## **Country-Specific**

Iraq

IDPs in Iraq, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Asylum Under Attack: A Report of the Protection of Iraqi Refugees and Displaced Persons One Year After the Humanitarian Emergency in Iraq, by the Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, April 1992.

"The Establishment of A Safe Haven for the Kurds in Iraq," *International Legal Issues Arising Under the United Nations Decade of International Law*, edited by Eugene Cotran N. Al-Naumi and R Messe, Martinus Nijhoff, The Hague, 1995.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report by the Special Rapporteur, Mr. Max van der Stoel, *Report on the Situation of Human Rights in Iraq*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1998/67, March 10, 1998 (see II (B) Forced Displacement).

*The Kurds - A Regional Issue: Update to April 1998*, by Sarah Graham-Brown, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, April 30, 1998.

Humanitarian Situation of the Kurdish Refugees and Displaced Persons in South-East Turkey and North Iraq, by the Council of Europe (COE), Parliamentary Assembly, Committee on Migration, Refugees and Demography, Doc. 8131, June 3, 1998.

"Ethnic Cleansing in Kirkuk," by the Iraq Foundation, January 26, 2001. Available at: <u>www.iraqfoundation.org</u>

Israel and the Occupied Territories

Missiles and Dynamite: The Israeli Military Forces' Destruction of Palestinian Homes with Anti-Tank Missiles and High-Powered Explosives, by Tom Taylor, Al-Haq, 1993.

*Planned Dispossession: Palestinians, East Jerusalem and the Right to a Place to Live*, by Miloon Kothari and Jan Abu Shakrah, Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions, Geneva, September 1995.

*The Quiet Deportation - Revocation of Residency of East Jerusalem Palestinians*, by the Centre for the Defence of the Individual and the Israeli Information Centre for Human Rights in the Occupied Territories, Jerusalem, April 1997.

*Demolition and Dispossession: the Destruction of Palestinian Homes*, by Amnesty International, MDE 15/59/99, December 1999.

*Expulsion of Palestinian Residents from the South Mt. Hebron Area, October-November 1999,* by Yael Stein, B'Tselem, February 2000.

Lebanon

IDPs in Lebanon, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"Displacements and Reconstruction: the Case of Beirut, Lebanon," by Suheil El-Masri, *Disasters*, vol. 13, no. 4 (1989).

*Trapped On All Sides: the Marginalization of Palestinian Refugees in Lebanon*, by Steven Edminster, U.S. Committee for Refugees, June 1999 (contains information on IDPs).

Persona Non Grata: The Expulsion of Civilians from Israeli-Occupied Lebanon, by Human Rights Watch, July 1999.

"Resolving the Issue of War Displacement in Lebanon," by Georges Assaf and Rana El-Fil, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000). Available at: www.fmreview.org

Syrian Arab Republic

See *IDPs in the Syrian Arab Republic*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

## Europe

Europe section of "Global Overview," in *Masses in Flight: The Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 47-56.

Regional Conference to Address the Problems of Refugees, Displaced Persons, Other Forms of Involuntary Displacement and Returnees in the Countries of the Commonwealth of Independent States and Relevant Neighbouring States, 30-31 May 1996, Geneva, by UNHCR, UN Doc. CISCONF/1996/5, 1996.

"The CIS Migration Conference: A Chance to Prevent and Ameliorate Forced Movements of People in the Former Soviet Union," by Arthur Helton, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 8, nos. 1 and 2 (1996).

"Conference Report: CIS Conference on Refugees and Migrants," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Journal on Minority and Group Rights*, vol. 4, no. 1 (1996/7), pp. 79-85.

*The Unindicted: Reaping the Rewards of "Ethnic Cleansing,"* by Human Rights Watch, vol. 9, no. 1 (D), January 1997.

"The Human Rights of Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons before European Human Rights Mechanisms," by Diane Atkinson-Sanford in *Consultation on the international complaints mechanisms available to refugees and internally displaced persons, Oxford, 22 July,* 2000, p. 95.

*Internally Displaced Persons and Political Participation: The OSCE Region*, by Simon Bagshaw, Occasional Paper, Brookings Project on Internal Displacement, September 2000.

"Refugees, Internally Displaced Persons and Migrants: Europe as A Source and Sanctuary," by I. Khan, *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, vol. 20, no. 2 (2001), pp. 32-39.

*Internal Displacement in the OSCE Region*, by the Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database, September 2001. Available at: <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

*Internal Displacement in Europe*, Statement before the Council of Europe, Committee on Migration, Refugees, and Demography, by Bill Frelick, U.S. Committee for Refugees, September 4, 2001. Available at: www.refugees.org

# **Country-Specific**

## Bosnia-Herzegovina

*IDPs in Bosnia & Herzegovina*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

"Ethnic Cleansing" Continues in Northern Bosnia, by Human Rights Watch, November 1994.

"Presence, ergo Protection? UNPROFOR, UNHCR and the ICRC in Croatia and Bosnia and Hercegovina," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 7, no. 3 (1995).

*The Fall of Srebrenica and the Failure of U.N. Peacekeeping*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 7, no. 13, October 1995.

Update: Non-Compliance With The Dayton Accords, Ongoing Ethnically-Motivated Expulsions and Harassment in Bosnia, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 8. no. 12 (D) August 1996.

*Going Nowhere Fast: Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons in Bosnia and Herzegovina*, by the International Crisis Group, May 1, 1997.

*Return of Bosnian Serb Displaced Persons to Drvar, Bosansko Grahovo and Glamoc*, by the International Crisis Group, January 19, 1998.

"Bosnia and Herzegovina: Problems and Progress in the Return Process," by Cal Hallergard, *Forced Migration Review*, 1 (January-April 1998), pp. 21-24.

A Tale of Two Cities: Return of Displaced Persons to Jajce and Travnik, by the International Crisis Group, June 3, 1998.

Property Issues and Housing Issues Facing Repatriates and Displaced Persons in Bosnia and Herzegovina, by UNHCR/OHR and the CRPC, UNHCR publication, 1999.

Displacement in Bosnia-Herzegovina, by WFP, May 1999.

"At the Heart of the Return Process: Solving Property Issues in Bosnia and Herzegovina," by Catherine Phuong, *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000), pp. 5-7.

"The Rehabilitation of Homes and Return of Minorities to Republika Srpska, Bosnia and *Forced Migration Review*, 7 (April 2000), pp. 8-11.

The South Caucasus (Armenia, Azerbaijan and Georgia)

*IDPs in Armenia, IDPs in Azerbaijan* and *IDPs in Georgia,* Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

CIS: Refugees and IDPs in Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, the Russian Federation and Tajikistan, by Human Rights Watch, 1996.

"Internal Displacement in the North Caucasus, Azerbaijan, Armenia, and Georgia," by Thomas Greene in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 233-311.

*Conflict and Forced Displacement in the Caucasus-Perspectives, Challenges and Responses,* edited by Tom Trier and Lars Funch Hanson, Danish Refugee Council, Denmark, January 1999.

Summary Report of the Regional Workshop on Internal Displacement in the South Caucasus, Tbilisi, Georgia, May 10-12, 2000, *co-sponsored by the Brookings Project on Internal Displacement, Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR) of OSCE and the Norwegian Refugee Council (NRC), 2000. Available at: www.brook.edu/fp/projects/idp/conferences/georgia200005/summary.htm* 

Armenia

IDPs in Armenia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Bloodshed in the Caucasus: Escalation of the Armed Conflict in Nagorno Karabakh, by Helsinki Watch/Human Rights Watch, September 1992.

*Fault Lines of Nationality Conflict -Refugees and Displaced Persons from Armenia and Azerbaijan*, by Bill Frelick, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1994.

"Migration Tendencies Among Internally Displaced Persons in Border Regions of the Republic of Armenia," by "Refugees and Displaced Persons" Working Group with the support of IOM Armenia, 1996.

*Humanitarian Action and Politics: The Case of Nagorno-Karabakh*, by Neil S. MacFarlane and Larry Minear, Occasional Paper no. 25, Thomas J. Watson Jr. Institute for International Studies, 1997.

Migration Trends Among Internally Displaced Persons in Border Regions of the Republic of Armenia, by the Refugees and Displaced Persons Working Group, International Organization for Migration, Yerevan, January 31, 1999.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Armenia*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/2001/5/Add. 3, November 6, 2000.

*The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement and the Law of Armenia*, by Lusine Hovhannisian and Tatshat Stepanyan, to be published by the Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, the Georgian Young Lawyers Association (GYLA) and ODIHR/OSCE (forthcoming 2002).

## Azerbaijan

IDPs in Azerbaijan, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Bloodshed in the Caucasus: Escalation of the Armed Conflict in Nagorno Karabakh, by Helsinki Watch/Human Rights Watch, September 1992.

*Fault Lines of Nationality Conflict - Refugees and Displaced Persons from Armenia and Azerbaijan*, by Bill Frelick, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1994.

*Families at Risk: Fleeing the Nagorno-Karabakh Conflict*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1994.

*Humanitarian Action and Politics: The Case of Nagorno-Karabakh*, by Neil S. MacFarlane and Larry Minear, Occasional Paper no. 25, Thomas J. Watson Jr. Institute for International Studies, 1997.

Humanitarian Needs Evaluation for Victims of the Nagorno-Karabakh Conflict, by USAID, Bureau of Europe and New Independent States, January 1998.

Azerbaijan: Internal Displacement Issues, by WFP, 1999.

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Azerbaijan*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/1999/79/Add. 1, January 25, 1999.

*The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement and the Law of Azerbaijan*, by Imran Veliyev and Elkhan Asadov, to be published by the Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, the Georgian Young Lawyers Association (GYLA) and ODIHR/OSCE (forthcoming 2002).

Georgia

IDPs in Georgia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

*Refuge*, Bi-Monthly Newsletter on Refugee and IDP Related Issues, by the United Nations Association of Georgia. Available at: www.una.org.ge

"Internal Displacement and the Conflict in Abkhazia: International Responses and Their Protective Effect," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Journal on Group Rights* (1996), pp. 197-226.

"Stable Instability of Displaced People in Western Georgia: A Food-Security and Gender Survey after Five Years," by Vivero Pol and Jose Luis, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 12, no. 4 (December 1999).

*Workshop on the UN Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement, Borjomi, Georgia 13-15 November 2000*, by the Global IDP Project of the Norwegian Refugee Council, 2000. Available at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

Report by Mr. Alvaro Gil-Robles, Commissioner for Human Rights to the Committee of Ministers and the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe on the Visit to Georgia, July 13, 2000. Available at: <u>www.coe.int</u>

United Nations Commission on Human Rights, Report of the Representative of the Secretary-General, Mr. Francis Deng, *Profiles in Displacement: Georgia*, UN Doc. E/CN.4/2001/5/Add. 4, December 19, 2000.

"Georgia: Coping by Organising. Displaced Georgians from Abkhazia," by Julia Karashvili in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 227-249.

*The Guiding Principles on Internal Displacement and the Law of Georgia*, by Konstantin Korkelia and Giorgi Chkeidze, to be published by the Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, the Georgian Young Lawyers Association (GYLA) and ODIHR/OSCE (forthcoming 2002).

Croatia

IDPs in Croatia, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"Presence, ergo Protection? UNPROFOR, UNHCR and the ICRC in Croatia and Bosnia and Hercegovina," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, vol. 7, no. 3 (1995).

"From Relief to Development: The Long-term Effects of 'Temporary' Accommodation on Refugees and Displaced People in the Republic of Croatia," by Sue Ellis and Sultan Barakat, *Disasters*, vol. 20, no. 2, 1996.

"From Relief to Development: the Long-term Effects of 'Temporary' Accommodation on Refugee and Displaced Persons in the Republic of Croatia," by Sue Ellis and Sultan Barakat, *Disasters*, vol. 20, no. 2, June 1996, pp. 111-124.

Unfinished Business: Return of Displaced Persons and Other Human Rights Issues in Bijeljina, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 12, no. 7 (D), May 2000.

Progress in Sustainable Return of Refugees and Displaced Persons in the Context of the General Framework Agreement for Peace (Dayton Agreement), by the Humanitarian Issues Working Group (HIWG), HIWG/00/2, September 11, 2000.

*Return of Refugees and Displaced Persons to Their Homes in Croatia*, by the Council of Europe, Committee on the Honouring of Obligations and Commitments by Member States of the Council of Europe, Doc. 8823, October 12, 2000.

Cyprus

IDPs in Cyprus, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

"Resettling Displaced People in North and South Cyprus: A Comparison," by Nurit Kliot and Yoel Mansfield, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 7, no. 4 (1994).

"We Are Strangers Here': Continuity and Transition: The Impact of Displacement and Protracted Exile on the Greek Cypriot 'Refugees'," by Roger Zetter in *Cyprus and its People, Nation, Identity and Experience in an Unimaginable Community*, edited by V. Calotychos, Westview Press, 1998.

## Macedonia

Proceedings of the Lecture Series, *Exodus Within Borders: the Global Crisis of Internal Displacement*, co-sponsored by St. Cyril and Methodius University, the Brookings-CUNY Project on Internal Displacement, UNHCR Skopje, and the Open Society Institute, Skopje (forthcoming 2001).

Russian Federation and the Former Soviet Union

*IDPs in the Russian Federation*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Comprehensive Study Prepared by Mr. Francis Deng, Representative of the Secretary General on Human Rights Issues Related to Internally Displaced Persons UN Doc. E/CN.4/1993/35, January 21, 1993 (contains profile of displacement on Russian Federation).

"Russia: A Crisis in the Making," in *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 39-49.

Non-Governmental Organizations and the Protection of Refugees and Displaced Persons in the Russian Federation: A Summary of a Conference and Meeting in Moscow between Russian and Western NGOs, by the Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, August 1993.

*Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons in North Ossetia and Ingushetia*, by Egbert Wesselink, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, (March 1994).

"Ingush Displacement from North Ossetia: Keeping it on the International Agenda," by Erin D. Mooney, *International Journal of Refugee Law*, (1995), pp. 675-678.

CIS: Refugees and IDPs in Armenia, Azerbaijan, Georgia, the Russian Federation and Tajikistan, by Human Rights Watch, 1996.

Protecting Eurasia's Dispossessed: A Practical Guide for NGOs Working on Issues of Forced Migration in the Former Soviet Union, by the Forced Migration Projects, Open Society Institute, 1996.

"Internal Displacement in the North Caucasus, Azerbaijan Armenia, and Georgia," by Thomas Greene in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 233-311.

*Forced Displacement and Human Security in the Former Soviet Union: Law and Policy*, by Arthur C. Helton and Natalia Voronina, Transnational Publishers, Inc., New York, 2000.

"Displacement in the Former Soviet Union," by UNHCR in *The State of the World's Refugees: Fifty Years of Humanitarian Action*, Oxford University Press, 2000, pp. 185-206.

Russian Federation: Chechnya

Russia's War in Chechnya: Victims Speak Out, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 7, no. 1, January 1995.

Three Months of War in Chechnya, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 7, no. 6, February 1995.

Russia (Chechnya and Dagestan): Caught in the Cross Fire, Civilians in Gudermes and Pervomayskoye, by Human Rights Watch/Helsinki, vol. 8, no. 3 (D), March 1996.

The Ingush-Ossetian Conflict in the Prigorodnyi Regions, by Human Rights Watch, April 1996.

*Chechnya Case Study*, by Greg Hansen and Robert Seely, Humanitarianism & War Project, Brown University, April 30, 1996 (contains information on IDPs).

Russian Federation: Ethnic Discrimination in Southern Russia, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 10, no. 8 (D), August 1998.

*Conflict and Forced Displacement in the Caucasus-Perspectives, Challenges and Responses,* edited by Tom Trier and Lars Funch Hanson, Danish Refugee Council, Denmark, January 1999.

Chechnya for the Motherland, by Amnesty International, EUR 46/46/99, December 1, 1999.

"Chechnya's Displaced Face Ongoing Instability and Immobility," by the U.S. Committee for Refugees, *Refugee Reports*, vol. 21, no. 8 (2000).

*The Conflict in Chechnya*, Committee on Migration, Refugees and Demography of the Parliamentary Assembly, Council of Europe, Doc. 8632, January 25, 2000.

*Russia/Chechnya Civilian Killings in Staropromyslovski District of Grozny*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 12 no. 2 (D), February 2000.

Report by Mr. Alvaro Gil-Robles, Commissioner for Human Rights to the Committee of Ministers and the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe on the Second Visit to the Russian Federation in particular Ingushetia and Chechnya - Grozny, Second Report, March 1, 2000. Available at: <u>www.coe.int</u>

Russia/Chechnya: "No Happiness Remains" Civilian Killings, Pillage, And Rape In Alkhan-Yurt, Chechnya, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 12, no. 5 (D), April 2000.

*Russia/Chechnya: February 5: A Day Of Slaughter in Novye Aldi*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 12, no. 9 (D), June 2000.

Turkey

IDPs in Turkey, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at www.idpproject.org

Forced Displacement of Ethnic Kurds from Southeastern Turkey, by Human Rights Watch, October 1994.

Forced Evictions and Destruction of Villages in Dersim (Tunceli) and the Western Part of Bingöl, Turkish Kurdistan, September – November 1994, by the Netherlands Kurdistan Society, 1995.

"Flucht & Migration in Westtürkische Städte," prepared for Menschenrechtsverein (IHD) Sektion Instanbul by Kommission für die Rechte der Kurdinnen & Kurden, *Kurdistan Aktuell*, nummer 7, November 1995, pp. 3-41.

*Violations Of The Right Of Petition To The European Commission Of Human Rights*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 8, no. 4 (D), April 1996.

*Turkey's Failed Policy To Aid The Forcibly Displaced in the Southeast*, by Human Rights Watch/Helsinki, vol. 8, no. 9 (D), June 1996.

*The Kurds - A Regional Issue: Update to April 1998*, by Sarah Graham-Brown, WRITENET for UNHCR/CDR/REFWORLD, April 30, 1998.

Humanitarian Situation of the Kurdish Refugees and Displaced Persons in South-East Turkey and North Iraq, by the Council of Europe (COE), Parliamentary Assembly, Committee on Migration, Refugees and Demography, Doc. 8131, June 3, 1998.

*The Wall of Denial: Internal Displacement in Turkey*, by Bill Frelick, U.S. Committee for Refugees, 1999.

"Hard Cases: Internal Displacement in Turkey, Burma and Algeria," by Roberta Cohen, *Forced Migration Review*, 6 (December 1999), pp. 25-28.

Aslantas Dam and Related Aspects of the Ceyhan River Basin, Turkey, A WCD Case Study Prepared as an Input to the World Commission on Dams, by Agrin Co. Ltd., Cape Town, 2000. Available at: <u>www.dams.org</u>

Federal Republic of Yugoslavia

*IDPs in the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia*, Norwegian Refugee Council's Global IDP Database at <u>www.idpproject.org</u>

Comprehensive Study Prepared by Mr. Francis Deng, Representative of the Secretary General on Human Rights Issues Related to Internally Displaced Persons UN Doc. E/CN. 4/1993/35, January 21, 1993 (contains profile of displacement on the former Yugoslavia).

"Yugoslavia: A Nation Dismantled," in *Protecting the Dispossessed: A Challenge for the International Community*, by Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1993, pp. 22-36.

*Balkan Trail of Tears Revisited: Living with the Nightmare,* by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1993.

*Humanitarian Action in the Former Yugoslavia: The UN's Role 1991-1993*, by Larry Minear, Jeffrey Clark, Roberta Cohen, Dennis Gallagher, Iain Guest, and Thomas G. Weiss, Thomas J. Watson Jr. Institute for International Studies and Refugee Policy Group, 1994.

"Towards Improving Shelter and Environment for Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons Within the Post-Yugoslav Countries," by S. Barakat and S. Ellis, *Journal of Refugee Studies*, vol. 8, no. 4 (1995).

"Conflicts, Displaced Persons and Refugees in Former Yugoslavia," in *Populations in Danger* 1995, edited by Francois Jean, Médecins sans Frontières, 1995, pp. 146-149.

*The Struggle for Peace and Recovery in Former Yugoslavia: Move Women from the Background to Foreground*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1996.

*Open Society Institute: The Commission for Displaced Persons and Refugees - Options and Issues*, The Forced Migration Projects of the Open Society Institute, February 1996.

A Failure in the Making: Human Rights & the Dayton Agreement, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 8, no. 8 (D), June 1996.

"Dealing with the Displacement and Suffering Caused by Yugoslavia's Wars," by Thomas G. Weiss and Amir Pasic in *The Forsaken People: Case Studies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Roberta Cohen and Francis M. Deng, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, D.C., 1998, pp. 175-231.

*Federal Republic of Yugoslavia: "Ethnic Cleansing" in the Glogovac Municipality*, by Human Rights Watch, vol. 11, no. 8 (D), July 1999.

*Refugee and Internally Displaced Women and Children in Serbia and Montenegro*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, September 2001.

Federal Republic of Yugoslavia: Kosovo

*Internal Displacement in Kosovo: The Impact on Women and Children*, by the Women's Commission for Refugee Women and Children, 1998.

*Federal Republic of Yugoslavia: Humanitarian Law Violations in Kosovo*, by Human Rights Watch, October 1998.

*The Protection of Kosovo's Displaced and Refugees*, by Amnesty International, AI Index 70/73/98, October 1998.

"Internal Displacement: Is Prevention Through Accountability Possible? A Kosovo Case Study," by C.M. Carey, *American University Law Review*, vol. 49, no. 1 (1999), pp. 243-288.

A Week of Terror in Drenica: Humanitarian Law Violations in Kosovo, by Human Rights Watch, February 1999.

"Failing the Internally Displaced [in Kosovo]," by Roberta Cohen and David A. Korn, *Forced Migration Review*, 5 (August 1999), pp. 11-13.

"Refugees and Internally Displaced Persons: Lessons from the Kosovo Crisis," by Roberta Cohen and David A. Korn, *Refuge* (August 1999). pp. 37-39.

Kosovo: Protection and Peace-Building: Protection of Refugees, Returnees, Internally Displaced Persons, and Minorities, by the Lawyers Committee for Human Rights, August 1999.

Kosovo: Rape As A Weapon of "Ethnic Cleansing," by Human Rights Watch, March 2000.

*Reversal of Fortune: Yugoslavia's Refugee Crisis since the Ethnic Albanian Return to Kosovo*, by Bill Frelick, U.S. Committee for Refugees, April 2000.

*Reality Demands: Documenting Violations of International Humanitarian Law in Kosovo 1999*, by the International Crisis Group, June 27, 2000.

"Yugoslavia: Displacement from Kosovo. From Patronage to Self-Help," by Vladimir Ilic in *Caught Between Borders: Response Strategies of the Internally Displaced*, edited by Marc Vincent and Brigitte Refslund Sorenson, Pluto Press, London, 2001, pp. 250-265.